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Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD)

Letter of Transmittal

In The Name of Allah, The Beneficent, The Merciful
The Chairman,
ISFD Board of Governors
Dear Mr. Chairman,

Assalam-u-Alaikum Warahmatullahi Wabarakatuh
In accordance with the Regulations of the Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development, I, on behalf of
the Board of Directors, have the honour to submit for the kind attention of the esteemed Board
of Governors, the Annual Report on the operations and activities of the Islamic Solidarity Fund for
Development in 1436H (2015).
The Annual Report also includes the audited financial statements of the ISFD as prescribed in
Article 18 of the Fund’s Regulations.
Please accept, Mr. Chairman, the assurances of my highest consideration.

Dr. Ahmed Mohamad Ali
President, IDB
Chairman of ISFD Board of Directors
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BASIC FACTS

The Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD):

Basic Facts

Poverty is a significant challenge in the IDB member countries, particularly
LDMCs. Therefore, poverty alleviation occupies an important place in
the agenda of the IDB, and the Bank’s Vision stresses key aspects of
poverty reduction in five of the eight main priorities of the Bank:
•
•
•
•
•

Key strategic thrust 2: Alleviate poverty.
Key strategic thrust 3: Promote health.
Key strategic thrust 4: Universalize education.
Key strategic thrust 5: Prosper the people.
Key strategic thrust 6: Empower women.

The decision to establish the ISFD as a Special Fund within the IDB was reached by the Third Extraordinary
Session of the OIC Islamic Summit Conference in Makkah in 7-8 December 2005 (5-6 Dhul Qadah 1426H). The
Summit decided to establish a special Fund within the IDB with a view to (a) reduce poverty, (b) build the productive
capacities of member states, (c) reduce illiteracy, and (d) eradicate diseases and epidemics, particularly Malaria,
Tuberculosis (TB) and AIDS. In light of the Bank’s Vision and the directive of the 3rd Extraordinary OIC summit,
poverty reduction has become the overarching objective of the IDB’s interventions in the member countries and
the ISFD was officially launched during the 32nd Meeting of the IDB Board of Governors, held on 12-13 J. Awwal
1428H (29-30 May, 2007) in Dakar, Senegal.   
The Fund, headquartered in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, has been established in the form of a Waqf1 (i.e. Trust), with
a principal target capital of US$10.0 billion. All IDB member countries are expected to contribute to the Fund
and extend technical and moral support to its operations. Two overarching themes define the focus of the ISFD:
Improving and enhancing the income of the poor, and promoting the development of human capital.
The Fund seeks to reduce poverty in its member countries through:
-

Promoting pro-poor growth.
Emphasizing human development, especially improvements in health care and education.
Providing financial support to enhance the productive capacity and sustainable means of income generation for
the poor.

The Fund views poverty as a multi-dimensional phenomenon, encompassing not only low income and consumption,
but also low achievement in fundamental human rights including education, nutrition, primary health, water and
sanitation, housing, crisis coping capacity, insecurity, and all other forms of human development. Hence, the ISFD
adopts a more comprehensive definition of poverty and does not only stick to “income poverty” in the analysis of
the poverty status in member countries.
1

The concept of Waqf (Trust/ Endowment) implies that only the income which will be generated from the investments of the Fund’s resources will
be available to finance its operations.
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MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS2
OPERATIONS
Approvals in 1436H (2015)
• 19 operations, valued at US$451.86 million, to which the ISFD had contributed US$133.36 million in 15 member
countries
Cumulative Approvals from 1429-36H (2008-15)
• 98 operations, valued at US$2.56 billion in 33 member countries, to which the ISFD has contributed by
US$565.83 million.

RESOURCES OF THE FUND:
• Targeted Initial Capital: US$10.0 billion
Pledges
• US$2.68 billion pledged by 44 member countries (US$1.68 billion) and an amount of US$1.0 billion by the IDB.
Paid-in Contributions
• Paid-in Contributions: US$2.37 billion by member countries (US$1.57 billion) and the IDB (US$800.0 million).
• Contributions received (paid-in) in 1436H: US$107.99 million, made by Indonesia (US$3.11 million) and Pakistan
(US$4.88 million), and US$100.0 million paid by the IDB.

INCOME
Operating income in 1436H (2015)
• US$65,025million
Net income in 1436H (2015)
• US$62.075 million

2

Figures as at the end of 1436H (2015)
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Chairman’s Message

I am pleased to submit the eighth Annual Report of the ISFD, providing
an overview of the activities and performance of the Fund during the
year 1436H (2015). The IDB 1440H Vision entitled ‘A Vision for Human
Dignity’, presents a unique vision of its role “to be a leader in fostering
socio-economic development” and its mission to alleviate poverty and
promote human development. This Vision has provided the basis for
the ISFD targeted intervention in member countries in 1436H (2015).
During the year, 19 operations were approved by the Fund in 15 member countries. These operations were valued
at US$133.36 million, higher by 4.14% than the approvals in 1435H (2014), bringing the cumulative ISFD approvals
since operationalization of the Fund in 1428H (2008) to US$565.8 million. The approvals in 1436H (2015) consist of
US$129.89 million in loans and US$3.47 million in grants. The Fund has continued to develop flagship programs
which can bring vital gains in the fight against poverty such as the “Save the Mothers” program and the Buy-Down
Facility (The Lives and Livelihoods Fund) which has been set-up by IDB and the Bill & Melinda Gate’s Foundation.
The ISFD has approved a total of US$100 million as “extra-ordinary grant” to support the latter initiative which
is expected to leverage the ISFD resources by US$500.0 million of additional funding for poverty alleviation in
member countries.
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The ISFD has continued to face the challenge of mobilizing its initial target capital of US$10.0 billion, which is
critical for the achievement of its mission and success. As at the end of 1436H (13 October 2015), US$2.69 billion
had been pledged to the Fund, consisting of US$1.69 billion pledged by 44 of the 56 IDB member countries and
US$1.0 billion committed by the IDB. Accordingly, there was no addition to commitments by member countries
during the year. Payments of contributions had increased by 4.76%, from US$2.269 billion in 1435H to US$2.377
million in 1436H. This was composed of US$1,577 million paid by member countries and US$800.0 million paid
by the IDB.
Needless to say that the current level of contribution is far below the target capital amount after more than eight
years of the establishment of the Fund and will limit the Fund’s ability to implement its programs. In this regard, I call
on member countries to implement the ISFD BOG and COMCEC resolutions to make contributions to the Fund’s
capital based on member countries’ financial and economic abilities so that it can mobilize its approved capital
resources. I also wish to call on member countries to implement the resolutions of the OIC Summit on this matter.
At the ISFD management level, I would also like to confirm that we will continue to consult with member countries
to meet their obligations towards the Fund and seek innovative methods of resource mobilization to supplement
its capital resources.
I take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the ISFD Governors and the Board of Directors for their
unfailing support and skillfully steering the Fund throughout the year. I also wish to thank the IDB/ISFD partners
for their collaboration in our collective effort to address poverty in the IDB member countries. I commend them all
for this dedication.
I also wish to confirm the management’s commitment to further enhance the confidence in the Fund by improving
its management structure, methods of work, and mechanisms of implementation. I look forward to a successful
year for all IDB member countries and achieving better results by the ISFD in 1437H (2016).

Dr. Ahmed Mohamad Ali
President, IDB
Chairman of the ISFD Board of Directors
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Since the launching of the
MDGs in 2000, significant
progress has been achieved
in fighting poverty in IDB
member countries. A key
observation on this process,
however, is diversity and
regional disparities. Few
countries have been able to
meet most of the MDGs, and
some have met only a few.
The majority of the member
countries have achieved
mixed results, meeting some
goals but not others.

Poverty
Incidence
in the IDB
Member
Countries

POVERTY INCIDENCE IN THE IDB MEMBER COUNTRIES

1

Poverty Incidence in the IDB
Member Countries
Although for most of IDB member countries poverty levels have continued to decrease in the
last three decades, poverty situation continues to persist, particularly in the less developed
member countries (LDMCs). The number of people who live under US$1.25 a day in the IDB
member countries is estimated at 375 million in 2014, accounting for about 40% of the total
world’s poor1. There are also growing disparities in income and wealth, as well as unequal
social opportunities within and among member countries which reinforce each other and
disproportionately affect the poor and most vulnerable segments of the society. This is reflected
in the pronounced variation in per capita GDP levels across member countries, ranging from
less than US$1000 in the poorest countries to over US$50,000 in the high income countries –
even over US$140,000 in one country (Qatar). Poverty headcount ratios also vary from zero to
62%, further displaying the diverse picture of poverty in member countries2.
Poverty is generally defined as being income poor. However, it is acknowledged that poverty
has many non-monetary dimensions which also vary across the IDB Member Countries. A
heterogeneous composition is observed when the IDB Member Countries are examined in terms
of Human Development Index (HDI) values, ranging from 0.852 to 0.3373, Multidimensional
Poverty Index values (ranging between 0.004 and 0.584)4, and the Global Hunger Index values
which range between zero and 29.55. In fact, 23 IDB member countries were in the low human
development category in 2015 UN Human Development Report. It is also estimated that in total
more than 25% of the total population in the IDB member countries live under multidimensional
poverty. All IDB LDMCs are in the position of “low income food-deficit country”. In fact, more
than half of these countries have serious hunger situation, one-third have an alarming situation6.

Progress on the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs)
One of the most widely accepted policies in the field of poverty alleviation are the Millennium
Development Goals (MDGs) which were adopted by the world leaders in 2000, committing
their nations to time-bound, quantified targets for addressing extreme poverty in its many
dimensions – income poverty, hunger, disease, lack of adequate shelter, and exclusion – while
promoting gender equality, education, and environmental sustainability. The eight MDGs are:
1 COMCEC Poverty Outlook, 2015
2 World Bank, 2015 – Indicators http://data.worldbank.org/indicator
3 UNDP Human Development Report, 2015
4 Global Multidimensional Poverty Index 2015, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI)
5 2015 Global Hunger Index: Armed Conflict and the Challenge of Hunger, International Food Policy Institute
6  Op cit.

12

Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD)

POVERTY INCIDENCE IN THE IDB MEMBER COUNTRIES

1. Eradicate extreme poverty and hunger
2. Achieve universal primary education
3. Promote gender equality and empower women
4. Reduce child mortality
5. Improve maternal health
6. Combat HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases
7. Ensure environmental sustainability
8. Develop global partnership for development
The above goals were considered the priority areas that had to be addressed to eliminate
extreme poverty. These goals were accepted as national goals by IDB member countries and
were expected to increase the coherence and consistency of national policies and programs
while aiming to achieve the set targets.
The UN has issued several annual reports on the progress that countries and regions have
made towards the achievement of the set goals.  According to the UN MDGs Report 20157:
7 The Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015, United Nations, New York
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-

The world’s population living in extreme poverty has fallen from 1.9 billion in 1990 to 836
million in 2015 by declining more than half;

-

The proportion of undernourished people in the developing regions has fallen from 23% in
1990-1992 to 13% in 2014;

-

The primary school net enrolment rate in the developing regions increased from 83% in
2000 to 91% in 2015;

-

The developing regions have achieved in equalizing the ratios of girls to boys in primary,
secondary and tertiary education;

-

The global under-five mortality rate has declined from 90 to 43 deaths per 1,000 live births
between 1990 and 2015 with a decline of more than half;

-

The maternal mortality ratio has declined by 45% worldwide since 1990;

-

The global malaria incidence rate has fallen by an estimated 37% and the death rate by 58%;

-

The global population using an improved drinking water source has reached 91% in 2015
from 76% in 1990;

-

Globally, 2.1 billion people have gained access to improved sanitation;

-

The proportion of debt services to export revenue in developing countries has dropped to
3% in 2013 from 12% in 2000;

-

Mobile cellular subscriptions has grown nearly tenfold between 2000 and 2015; and internet
penetration has reached to 43% of the world’s population in 2015, from 6% in 2000.

Despite these strides that have been made since 1990, there were significant gaps in the
achievement of the MDGs by 2015. For instance, hunger (Goal 1) remains a global challenge,
since the ratios of undernourishment and child under-nutrition had remained high. Progress
on maternal mortality rate remains slow and could not reach the target of reducing this rate by
three quarters by 2015 as required. Moreover, not every child had chance to enroll and complete
primary school.  A noteworthy change was also not realized on environmental sustainability.

Achievement of the MDGs in the IDB Member Countries
Under the MDGs, officially 21 targets and 60 indicators were defined to monitor the progress
of the countries. For the IDB member countries, available statistics show that there were mixed
results on achievements of these goals8.
On Goal 1, Eradicate Extreme Poverty and Hunger, statistics show that more than half of
the IDB member countries were able to halve the proportion of people whose income is
less than one US dollar a day9. However, progress in 6 LDMCs remained slow. On the other
8 COMCEC Poverty Outlook 2015, Achievements on the Millennium Development Goals
9 “The international poverty line was set at $1 a day at the time the MDGs were established, but since 2008, the World
Bank has defined people living in extreme poverty as those living on less than $1.25 a day, reflecting higher price levels
in many developing countries than previously estimated.” (The UN, 2013)
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hand, about 40 member countries
have been able to increase their
employment-to-population ratio, which
is an encouraging result. In general,
the picture for LDMCs was satisfactory
as most of them (15 countries) were
successful on this indicator. However,
statistics show that almost two-thirds
of the member countries were unable
to halve the prevalence of underweight
children under five years of age.
Regarding achievements on Universal
Primary Education (Goal 2), in general,
nearly two-thirds of the IDB member
countries were unable to achieve this
target.
Results were also mixed on the progress
achieved

on

“Promoting

Gender

Equality and Empower Women” – Goal
3. The overall assessment of the ratio of
girls to boys in secondary education shows that more than half of the member countries have
not attained the required ratio, and most of these countries are LDMCs. Nevertheless, some
LDMCs, such as Chad and Guinea, have achieved a noteworthy progress on this indicator.
Regarding the ratio of girls and boys in tertiary education, nearly half of the member countries
have succeeded in achieving the target value in time and the other half have not.
Regarding Child Mortality, Goal 4, the performance on this goal has generally not been
satisfactory. Among IDB member countries, children under-five mortality rate per 1,000 births
varies between 3.4 and 161. Looking at the overall picture of the, it is observed that more than
two-thirds of the member countries were not on track in reducing under-five mortality rate by
two-thirds as required under this Goal.
On Goal 5, “Improving Maternal Health,” the progress made is disappointing. Up to the end
of 2015, the maternal mortality ratio per 100.000 live births was ranging between 6 (Qatar)
and 1,100 (among some LDMCs). In fact, none of the LDMCs was successful in achieving this
Goal. Even in the middle income group, only Bangladesh was on track to achieve this Goal in
time. However, notable progress was achieved in the area of antenatal care coverage (at least
one visit), as more than 80% of the LDMCs have made significant progress on this target. It is
also worth noting that some LDMCs, such as Afghanistan, Chad, Niger, and Yemen, were able
to increase their antenatal care coverage by more than two or three times during the MDGs
period. The same progress was also achieved by Bangladesh and Pakistan. On epidemic
diseases, such as malaria and tuberculosis, a notable progress was made across IDB member
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countries. However, there is still a long way to go to achieve the targets regarding ‘Combating
of HIV/AIDS’ (Goal 6). The population with advanced HIV infection with access to antiretroviral
drugs thus far, according to the UN MDG Report (2015), ranges between 0 and 75, so none of
the IDB countries has a full coverage on this disease. Hence, none of the IDB LDMCs could be
defined as either successful or on-track on achieving this target.
The progress in water resources usage indicator was not satisfactory, as the majority of
member countries were not able to meet the set targets. However, the proportion of population
using improved drinking water source has increased significantly, as more than half of the
member countries were on track to decrease the proportion of people who do not have access
to safe drinking water, at least by half. However, a less encouraging result was achieved in the
proportion of population using an improved sanitation facility, which ranges from 9 (the lowest
in LDMCs) to 100 (in Kuwait, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and Uzbekistan). Overall, 32% of the member
countries were on track to halve the population who have no access to basic sanitation by the
end of 2015. But, none of the low income countries were on track to achieve this indicator10.
Generally, significant progress has been achieved in all regions, Asia, Middle East and, to
less extent, sub-Saharan Africa. A key observation on this process, however, is diversity and
regional disparities. Few countries have been able to meet most of the goals, and some have
met only a few. The majority of the member countries have achieved mixed results, meeting
some goals but not others.

Post-2015 Development Agenda - the SDGs
The thinking process for a post-2015 development agenda was initiated by the UN since 2010.
Following extensive consultations, the outcome document of the 2012 Rio+20 Conference
on

Sustainable

Development

envisaged an inclusive process for
developing a set of Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) to be
integrated into the UN development
agenda

beyond

2015.

The

Conference highlighted that the
SDGs should be limited in number,
aspirational, easy to communicate,
and address in a balanced way all
three dimensions of sustainable
development – economic, social
and environmental – in a coherent,
holistic,

comprehensive

and

balanced manner. A 30-member
10 COMCEC Poverty Report (2015), op cit.
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Open Working Group (OWG) of the
General Assembly was assigned to
prepare a proposal on the SDGs.
The OWG adopted a document
with 17 specific goals and 169
associated

targets.

The

SDGs

were intended to reinforce the
commitment

to

the

unfinished

MDGs, as well as to break new
grounds with goals on inequalities,
economic growth, decent jobs,
cities

and

human

industrialization,

settlements,

energy,

climate

change, sustainable consumption
and
and

production,
institutions.

peace,
In

justice
addition,

implementation means for the SDGs and the global partnership for sustainable development
have all been defined in the areas of finance, technology, capacity building, trade, partnerships,
data, monitoring and accountability. Specific means of implementation of each target were
identified for the set Goals11. The finalized text for adoption under the title “Transforming Our
World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development” was produced in August 2015 which
contains the agreed SDGs and targets.
Financing of the SDGs has been a crucial issue throughout the Post-2015 process. In the Third
International Conference on Financing for Development which was held in Addis Ababa on 1316 July 2015, a framework related to the finance of the Post-2015 Development Agenda was
adopted, namely the Addis Ababa Action Agenda. It includes three main areas for effective
implementation: action spheres; a global framework for financing post-2015 development
agenda; and data, monitoring and follow-up.
The Post-2015 Development Agenda aims to chart an evolution from the MDG agenda,
which focused on the challenges of the poor countries, to a more comprehensive sustainable
development agenda, which concerns all countries regardless of their level of development.
According to the UN Secretary General Nan Ki-Moon, the glue that will hold the 2030 Agenda
together – and ultimately determine its fate – is a renewed global partnership12. It is hoped
that the SDGs will have implications for all development partners at national and international
levels. In this regard, IDB/ISFD will to have a role in helping member countries translating the
set goals and targets into action.

11 Op cit.
12 The SDGs: Much more than a new beginning, OFID Quarterly, October 2015
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Role of the ISFD
On the whole, for the SDGs to be translated into action in the IDB member countries, a number
of areas need to be reformed and strengthened, such as productivity and economic growth,
economic institutions (governance) and improvements in service delivery for the poor. Member
countries are faced with the challenges of limited resources and inadequate capacity building.
LDMCs remain dependent on external aid to compensate for shortfalls in government resources
which are needed for maintaining and expanding priority social services and overcoming the
policy and institutional constraints
of addressing poverty. They also
need to reinforce their resilience
to internal and external shocks
and strengthen pro-poor growth/
inclusive

development.

Member

countries also need to take a longterm view in adhering to good
economic

policies

and

create

appropriate systems for service
delivery to the poor, particularly that
social safety nets are not efficient
enough to reduce the impact of
adverse shocks.
The Fund is aware that implementation of the SDGs will require a substantial flow of new
and additional financial resources in order to cover the costs, and to accelerate sustainable
development. In this context, in addition to the traditional resource mobilization methods, ISFD
will pay special attention to providing innovative partnerships and resource mobilization in
support of the development process in member countries. This will include deployment of part
of its capital resources investment in pro-poor and viable market oriented projects in member
countries, particularly LDMCs. The ISFD is also aware of the need to enhance its efforts to
devise effective strategies and quick win programs for poverty alleviation. This will require
rapid and sustained multi-sector pro-poor programs, for which the Fund will also target capital
investments and ordinary operations.
The ISFD operational program for 1437H (2016) has been developed to achieve these goals.
The ISFD will also continue to play its due role in mobilizing resources and streamlining its
business process which are critical for implementation of its programs.
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Landscape of Poverty in IDB Member Countries
1.44 Billion Extreme Poor
Globally

>500 Million Extreme and
Multidimensional Poor in
IDB MCs

Low Human Development
in 23 IDB MCs

2 in every 5 people in IDB MCs are multidimensional poor

Sub- Saharan Africa & South Asia are the poorest
IDB regions

1 in every 2 MPI poor in IDB MCs live in Sub-Saharan Africa

8 in 10 MPI Poor live in Rural Areas

Multidimensional Poor

Poverty in IDB Regions
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ISFD aims to  reduce  poverty  
in the  IDB member  countries  
using a South- South
cooperation approach with
specific characteristics which
are derived from the principle
of Islamic brotherhood.

Operations in
1436H (2015)

OPERATIONS IN 1436H (2015)

2

Operations in 1436H (2015)
ISFD Projects/Programs
The main objective of the ISFD is to reduce poverty in the IDB member countries using a
South- South cooperation approach with specific characteristics which are derived from
the principle of Islamic brotherhood. This is in line with the IDB 1440H (2020) Vision, which
includes “empowerment” as a core value, makes ‘alleviating poverty’ its strategic objective,
and identifies “human development” among its priority areas. The ISFD financing operations
are guided by the IDB Group Policy on Poverty Reduction, the ISFD operational program, best
practices and “lessons learned” from a variety of sources, including projects financed by the
IDB, Member Country Partnership Strategies (MCPSs), and the OIC Ten-Year Plan of Action.
The Fund gives priority to projects that possess high poverty content. It also emphasizes the
importance of partnerships and co-financing to supplement its limited resources and scale
up its projects. Further, the Fund also incorporates components in its programs to address
cross cutting issues, such as environment preservation, women’s economic empowerment,
governance and youth employment.
One of the important lessons of the ISFD activities over the past eight years is that the Fund
should be more “selective” and “focused” in its operations. These operations are targeted
to create employment opportunities, enhance capabilities, particularly for women and youth,
provide the poor with means of sustainable income to break away from poverty, improve basic
rural and pre-urban infrastructure – such as sanitation and supply of clean water – and expanding
education and health facilities, while building capacities and livelihoods of the poor. These
underlying principles constituted the basis for the ISFD projects and programs in 1436H (2015).

Operations
Consistent with its mandate, three overarching themes defined the focus of the ISFD’s poverty
reduction activities in 1436H (2015): (a) ensuring that these activities create additional jobs
and employment that reach the target groups of people; (b) promoting the development of
human capital; and (c) have a clear and measurable impact on the poor. This focusing has
required targeting of specific interventions which give priority to meeting “basic human needs,”
especially for the rural and urban poor.
During the year, 19 operations amounting to US$133.36 million were approved for 15 member
countries, compared to 12 projects amounting to US$ 128.0 million in 10 countries approved
in 1435H (2014). In accordance with the IDB Policy for Poverty Reduction, the ISFD supports
projects with high poverty content, and at least 80% of its approvals are allocated to LDMCs.
In 1436H, 85% of its approvals were allocated to LDMCs and 48% of them were earmarked for
addressing situations of high poverty content; namely in the areas of micro finance, vocational
training, education, and rural development.
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Out of the grants allocation in 1436H, US$10.0 million have been approved for the “Ebola
Initiative”, US$1.0 million for the Drylands project in Somalia (as part of a US$ 5.00 multi-year
program), and US$ 3.0 million for Educational Support for the Syrian Refugees (as part of a
US$7.0 multi-year program). By sector, interventions have focused on areas that have direct
impact on rural areas poverty, such as Agriculture and Rural Development (31%), Education
- including Vocational Training - (27%), Microfinance (13%), Health (13%), Rural Transport
(5%), Renewable Energy for the Poor (7%), and others (4%). Geographically, 70% of projects
approvals were allocated to Africa.
In terms of cumulative approvals, since the commencement of the ISFD operations in 1428H
and up to the end of 1436H (13 October 2015), US$565.8 million have been provided for a
total of 98 operations to 33 member countries, 78% of which are LDMCs. The total cost of
these projects is estimated at US$2.56 billion, thus attaining a leverage ratio of 1:4.5; i.e. on
the average, US$4.5 of external funding has been mobilized for every one dollar provided by
the ISFD.
The thrust of the ISFD approach in targeting these operations was to combat poverty,
particularly for women and children, and provide the poor and vulnerable with opportunities for
income generation on a sustainable basis. Gender aspects and capacity building were treated
as cross cutting themes to address the barriers faced by women in economic development.
Out-of-school youth have been targeted through vocational literacy programs because of the
limited opportunities they tend to encounter in developing or maintaining functional skills. This
enables them to increase their options in life and reduce the disadvantages they face.
During the year, the Fund continued to explore the opportunities for widening the coverage
of its rural development programs as a tool for addressing rural poverty through multi-sector

The ISFD has developed a flagship program of Vocational Literacy in Senegal as a means to help the youth and unemployed to be engaged in
sustainable income-generating activities.
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interventions and fast track the achievement of the MDGs at the local level. One project –
a Rural Development Project – was approved for Cameroon, namely Mont Mbappit Rural
Development Project (Phase-II). This project will improve living conditions of the rural population
in the project’s region through enhancing agricultural production, and achieving significant
gains in productivity and value addition, as well as improving related socio- economic services
(infrastructure, health, education, and business opportunities) and market access. The project
costs US$33.28 million to which the ISFD will contribute US$2.0 million by way of loan financing.
Similarly, the ISFD has continued to promote health services in 1436H (2015) in line with the
Key Strategic Thrust-III of the IDB Vision 1440H: “Promotion of health of the population of
Member Countries and Communities in Non- member Countries,” and supporting national
agenda for free primary healthcare.
In this regard The Fund approved a “Yellow Fever Vaccine Production Project” for Senegal
to the tune of US$10.0 million, out of an estimated total cost of USD23.0 million. The project
aims to improve the health status of the population by ensuring universal access to quality
preventive healthcare services in the country. It also aims to address the regional and global
demand for Yellow Fever Vaccine through increasing the YFV production capacity from 4.5
million to 30 million doses per year.
In addition, the Fund approved a health project to support maternal, newborn and child health
project in Cameroon. The objective of the project is to contribute to Cameroon’s National
Multi-sectoral Program for Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (MNCH), which aims to reduce
maternal, neonatal and infant mortalities in Cameroon. The total cost of the project is estimated
at USD31.16 million towards which the ISFD will contribute US$12.0 million through loan
financing.
The Fund also approved a housing
project for temporary displaced
persons, (phase 1), in Pakistan.
Some of the key expected results
of the project are: building of 18,000
houses for returning families; training
of 10,000 persons/house owners in
building disaster resilient houses;
training of 500 artisans; creating 5,000
construction jobs; and supporting the
livelihood of 5,000 families through
a microfinance scheme. The total
cost of the project is estimated at
USD65.4 million towards which the
ISFD will contribute US$5.0 million
by way of loan financing.
A Reverse Linkage Project Between Suriname and Malaysia in Rice Production was also
approved by the Fund to assist in the transfer of knowledge in this key area of food security.
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The overall goal of the project is to
enhance the capacity of Suriname in
rice production in order to maintain
self- sufficiency and increase its
exports of high quality rice. The total
cost of the project is estimated at
US$7.73 million towards which the
ISFD has contributed US$5.9 million
by way of loan financing.
An integrated development of
cotton value-chain was approved
for Mozambique which is aimed to
contribute towards the development
of the cotton and textile sector of
Mozambique in order to improve the
living conditions of hundreds of households of farmers engaged in cotton production. This
will be achieved through addressing critical constraints that have hampered the development
of the sector in the past and strengthening the cotton value-chain by creating an enabling
environment for development of the value-added industry.
Similarly, the Fund approved a rural electrification project for Senegal amounting to US$4.0
million through loan financing, out of an estimated total cost of US$58.3 million. The project
aims at supporting the Government’s of Senegal efforts towards eradication of extreme
poverty, particularly in rural areas, by providing access to electricity through decentralized
solar/diesel hybrid electrification solutions (mini- grids). A sustainable housing project was also
approved for Bangladesh which aims to improve access of low-income population to decent
and sustainable housing through provision of durable shelter and public amenities that will
ensure significant improvement of living conditions of the poor. The project will cost US$25.0
million to which the ISFD will contribute US$12.0 million as loan financing.
The ISFD also approved a loan financing of amounting to US$10.00 million to support a “Health
System Strengthening Project” in Sierra Leone. The total cost of the project is US$11.1 million.
The overall objective of the project is to contribute towards the realization of one of the main
targets of the National Health Sector Strategic Plan of reducing maternal and neonatal mortality
through strengthening the national health system. It will also improve the referral system
among healthcare facilities and support the training and management of the Community Health
Workers.
The ISFD also supported a project for Bilingual Basic Education amounting to US$10.0 million
for Mali. The total cost of the project is US$23.0 million. The project aims to support the
Strategic Framework for Growth and Reduction of Poverty (2012-2017) of the Government
of Mali in order to achieve Universal Primary Education and the MDGs related to Education.
This will be attained through improving equitable access to French/Arabic basic education and
improving its quality; promoting inclusive education; and improving the management capacity
of the Ministry of National Education in the country.
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ISFD Operations Portfolio Across Regions (1436H)
(Cumulative, $ Million)

MENA, 55

10%
Sub Saharan Africa, 374.4

67%

10%

Central Asia, 55.8

13%
Asia, 69.4

Majority of ISFD operations is in Sub Saharan Africa

ISFD Operations Portfolio Across Sectors (up to end 1436H)
(Cumulative, $ Million)

Education, 143.3

Other, 25

30%

Rural Development, 172

25%

5%
2%
5%

Urban Development, 12

7%

Renewable Energy, 41.2

13%

Rural Transport, 28

Finance, 72.2

13%
Health, 72

ISFD interventions mostly in Rural Development, Education, and Health sectors

ISFD Financing Partners
ISFD Supported Projects (IDB + ISFD + Government + Others)
Total Approvals: US$ 2,561 million (cumulative, up to 1436H)

555.8

1,382

ISFD Financing

IDB Financing

615.5

Government Financing

29.3

Others Financing

Excluding multiyear projects Educational Support for Syrian Children,
Arab Women Enterprise, and various grants under IDB waqf
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New Initiatives
(i) ISFD Participation in the Buy-Down Facility (The Lives and Livelihoods Fund)
During the year, the ISFD approved the utilization of US$100.0 million as “extra-ordinary grant”
from its income to support the Buy-Down Facility (The Lives and Livelihoods Fund “LLF”),
which has been set-up by the IDB and Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF). The purpose
of this Facility is to increase the amount of concessional resources that the IDB can provide to
its member countries. The contribution of the ISFD to this Fund will be paid in 5 equal annual
instalments of US$20.0 million each from its income.
Currently, the IDB and ISFD together provide US$357.0 million annually in concessional
financing to member countries (US$1.8 billion over 5 years). By participating in LLF, the ISFD
aims to leverage US$4.0 for each US$1.0 it contributes in grant financing through this Fund,
which in turn will leverage US$20.0 in concessional financing to member countries. What
this means is that the ISFD’s contribution to LLF will generate an amount of US$2.0 billion
in concessional financing over 5 years. Thus, by being among the participants in this facility,
the ISFD will be able to strengthen its position as a lead partner in fighting poverty in member
countries.
(ii) Save the Mothers Initiative
“Promoting health” is one of the strategic thrusts of the IDB Vision 1440H (2020). As such, one
of the key mandates of the ISFD is to bring primary healthcare services to the poor and most
vulnerable as a prerequisite to achieve this vision. In this respect, the ISFD has introduced the
“Save the Mothers Initiative” as a flagship program targeting mothers and expecting mothers,
rural women and teenage girls with the aim of developing effective maternal healthcare delivery
systems in member countries.  Through this initiative, the ISFD aims to develop a model that
can be scaled-up and replicated in member countries.
The initiative includes a community sensitization component which focuses on providing
awareness programs to sensitize communities about issues related to maternal health,
importance of institutional deliveries, timely immunization, and antenatal and postnatal care.
It also targets establishing systems for registration of births, immunization data, deaths and
causes of maternal deaths, and developing effective health information systems. It will also
focus on capacity development, especially training the mid-wives, traditional birth attendants,
community health workers, as well as strengthening the primary healthcare infrastructure and
improve the delivery of the Basic Emergency Obstetric and Neonatal Care services. Several
countries have already been identified to start the implementation of this initiative and a
number of potential partners have already been identified who have expressed their interest in
contributing to this initiative.

Promoting Co-Financing with Development Partners
The ISFD collaborates with other co-financiers for technical assistance activities and financing
of its programs. Co-financing may be in the form of a grant or a loan (concessional or nonconcessional). It can also be arranged on a parallel or joint basis, although the majority is
provided on a parallel basis. Such arrangements help in avoiding duplication of efforts and
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providing opportunities for knowledge
sharing with development partners. Cofinanciers also benefit from the IDB/ISFD
operational arms’ and long-standing
experience in working with LDMCs on
project implementation as well as from its
transparent procurement procedures.

ISFD Mission in a field visit for the ISFD Sustainable Village Project in West Darfur, Sudan

In 1436H (2015), the total cost of the
ISFD approved projects was US$451.86
million, whereas the ISFD contribution to
these projects was US$133.36 million –
representing 29.5% of the total financing.
The remaining cost (US$318.5 million) was
covered by the IDB and other co-financiers,
including national governments, multilateral
institutions, bilateral donors, and NGOs.

Strengthening partnerships: Positioning the ISFD as a key player in poverty reduction by
leveraging resources to support implementation of MDGs/SDGs by member countries is a
key objective of the Fund’s operational program. The ISFD has therefore continued to explore
opportunities for strengthening partnerships with financiers and stakeholders to support its
programs. These include, but not limited to, co-financiers. By participating in programs’ costs,
these partnerships create incentives for countries to use ISFD financing more responsibly to
achieve their targets. They also provide an opportunity for the ISFD to leverage its funds and
implement it projects more comprehensively.
Partnerships therefore enable the ISFD to play a catalytic role in mobilizing resources from
all potential partners, including national governments, local, regional and international
institutions, and the private sector. By doing so, they create valuable synergies for
enhancing governance and amplifying interests and successes. For projects implemented in
cooperation with development financing institutions and agencies, they also enable the Fund to
benefit from their experience in project’s appraisal, supervision of implementation and impact
analysis, as well as sustaining development efforts after project’s completion.
The primary partners of the ISFD in its interventions are the governments of the beneficiary
countries. However, the Fund has broadened its collaboration efforts by involving a wider range
of stakeholders in its work, particularly in the implementation of the Vocational Literacy Program
(VOLIP), Microfinance Support Program (MFSP), and Sustainable Villages Program (SVP). In
doing so, the ISFD has partnered with institutions that have rich experience in these areas.
The Fund has also continued to strengthen its collaborative relationship with the World Bank,
Asian Development Bank, Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), Arab Bank
for Development in Africa (BADEA), Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and others. The ISFD
is also in the process of entering into collaborative partnerships with selected UN and other
international and regional agencies which are engaged in the area of fighting poverty in the IDB
member countries.
Briefs on ISFD loan projects approved in 1436H (2015) are given below.
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Briefs on ISFD Loan Projects Approved in 1436H (2015)1
1. Health System Strengthening Project, Sierra Leone
The project is in line with the Key Strategic Thrust-III of the IDB Vision 1440H: “Promotion of
health of the population of Member Countries and Communities in Non- member Countries,”
and complements the “Agenda for Prosperity” (2013-2018) of the National Development Plan
of Sierra Leone and its “Free Healthcare Initiative.”
The overall objective of the project is to contribute to the realization of one of the main targets
of the National Health Sector Strategic Plan of reducing maternal and neonatal mortality
through strengthening the National Health System. The specific objective of the project is to
improve access to and quality of maternal health care services by establishing and equipping
two new Basic Emergency Obstetric and Neonatal Care facilities and equipping eight existing
ones, establishing a Midwifery Training School (MTS), and improving the referral system among
healthcare facilities at different levels of the health care system. It will also equip the School
of Clinical Sciences (SCS) and support the training and management of Community Health
Workers (CHW).
The total cost of the project is US$11.1 million, to which the ISFD has contributed US$10.00
million through Loan financing.

2. Support to Bilingual Basic Education Project, Mali
The project aims to support the Strategic Framework for Growth and Reduction of Poverty
(2012-2017) of the Government of Mali in order to achieve Universal Primary Education and
the MDGs related to Education. This will be attained through: (a) improving equitable access
to French/Arabic basic education; (b) improving the quality of French/Arabic basic education;
(c) promoting inclusive education; and (d) improving the management capacity of the Ministry
of National Education.
The project scope includes: (i) curricula development; (ii) books and teacher guides editing,
printing and distribution; (iii) training; (iv) construction and renovation; (v) capacity development
for the Ministry of National Education; and (vi) support to project management.
At completion, the key expected results include: (i) curricula developed and teaching materials
published and distributed; (ii) 5,000 teachers, 2,500 school heads and 500 supervisory staff
trained, and 500 school management committees established; (iii) Ten Koranic Schools
renovated; (iv) one Arabic teachers training institute in Tombouctou rehabilitated and a new
one is established in Kayes; and (v) 75,000 (60% boys and 40% girls) students from Bilingual
schools (Madrasas) have access to quality basic education and acquired core literacy and
numeracy competencies.
The total cost of the project is estimated at US$23.0 million to which the ISFD will contribute
US$10.0 million by way of loan financing.
1 This list includes only approved Loan Projects in 1436H (2015) and does not include Grants Projects.
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3. Sustainable Housing for Low Income Urban Communities, Bangladesh
The development objective of the project is to improve access of low-income population to
decent and sustainable housing through provision of durable shelter and public amenities
(3 schools and 3 health clinics/child-care centers) that will ensure significant improvement
of living conditions of the poor. The project aims to directly benefit the low-income urban
communities in three different municipalities (in total 5,000 beneficiaries). The majority of the
beneficiaries are ultra-poor and vulnerable communities of street cleaners and single women
garment workers.
The projected Key Outcomes by 2023 are: around 5,000 low income people live in decent
housing with improved facilities; a number of jobs have been created from the constructed
public amenities; the number of children enrolled in schools in the project areas increases from
60% (as of 2014) to 97%; and reduction of waterborne diseases in the project areas from 75%
to 15% during the same period.
The project has seven major components: Development of Sustainable Housing; Improvement
of Access to Markets and Public Amenities; Social Safeguards; Consultancy Services for
Design and Supervision; Awareness and Capacity Building; Support for Project Implementation
(including financial audit); and maintenance of facilities.
The total cost of the project is estimated at US$25.0 million to which the ISFD will contribute
US$12.0 million as loan financing.

4. Rural Electrification Project, Senegal
The project aims at supporting the Government of Senegal efforts towards eradication of
extreme poverty, particularly in rural areas, through supplying electricity. Specifically, the
project will contribute to improving the living conditions of rural population by allowing them
to have access to electricity through decentralized solar/diesel hybrid electrification solutions
(mini- grids).
The project will increase the number of electrified localities by 188 villages and will enable
45,000 people to have access to a solar decentralized system in the first year. The project
will also connect 200 schools, 156 health centers, 180 community centers in the 188 villages,
thus contributing to the overall objective of the Government to bring the access rate to 62 %
in 2022.
The project is in line with IDB 1440H vision, as it will contribute to the prosperity of the
Senegalese people through the development of the productive activity sectors as well as health
and education sectors in rural areas by electrifying the targeted villages. It will also contribute
to employment generation efforts and other additional values to the economy of the country.
The total cost of the project is estimated at US$58.3 million to which the ISFD will contribute
US$4.0 million through loan financing.
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5. Integrated Microfinance Support Program, Phase II - Benin
The objective of this project is to contribute to the improvement of the well-being of poorer
communities in rural areas through community and economic empowerment. Specifically,
the project is aimed to: (i) increase access to financial services for the poor and promoters
of Micro Enterprises; (ii) reinforce the capacity of Microfinance Intermediaries and NGOs to
deliver Islamic microfinance services, therefore responding to the needs and preferences of
the target beneficiaries. It also includes a line of financing that seeks to fund the development
and consolidation of Micro and Very Small Enterprises requiring investments in equipment, raw
materials and working capital using participative finance approach.
The key results expected at completion of the project include: (i) 9,000 promoters of micro
enterprises have access to microfinance; (ii) 10,000 jobs are created; (iii) 70% of the beneficiary
households have improved their standard of living; (iv) 2,000 Micro Enterprises are created/
strengthened; (v) 35% of the jobs created are permanent (year round) jobs; and (vi) 90,000
beneficiaries of Income Generating Activities, of which 80% are women.
The Project has received multi-year ISFD Loan financing for an amount of US$ 20.00 million, of
which US$10.00 million has been approved under the Operation Plan for 1436H and US$10.00
million under the Operation Plan for 1437H.

6. Mont Mbappit Rural Development Project (Phase-II), Cameroon
The project’s overall goal is to improve the living conditions of the rural population of the Noun
Division region. This objective will be achieved through enhancing agricultural production,
productivity and value addition, as well as improving related socio- economic services and
market access.
The expected key results of the project include: (i) 750 ha of low land development; (ii)
development of 8 agriculture processing units; (iii) rehabilitation/construction of 200 km of
feeder roads; (iv) construction of 11 schools, 7 health centers, and 42 boreholes; (v) construction
of 8 rural commercial centers; (vi) establishment of 8 cooperatives; (vii) provision of agricultural
equipment/machinery and inputs facilities; (viii) 12,500 tons of agricultural products produced
and processed annually; (ix) provision of credit facilities amounting to US$2.0 million through
cooperatives; and (x) capacity building for farmers.
The total project’s cost is estimated at US$33.28 million to which the ISFD will contribute
US$2.0 million by way of loan financing.

7. Ouro Branco: Integrated Development of Cotton Value-chain Project, Mozambique
The objective of the project is to contribute towards the development of the cotton and textile
sector of Mozambique in order to improve the living conditions of 300,000 households engaged
in cotton production. Specifically, the project aims is to strengthen the cotton value-chain and
create enabling environment for development of the value-added industry with a focus on three
high producing cotton provinces: Cabo Delgado, Niassa and Nampula.
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The project using the value-chain approach will address critical constraints that have hampered
the development of the sector in the past. It will seek to establish the “Nacala Corridor Cotton
Cluster (NCCC)” and develop agricultural support services to promote improved efficiency
in the value-chain. The scope of the project consists of: (i) Support for Cotton Seed Supply
system; (ii) Strengthening Cotton Research and Innovation, (iii) Development of Agricultural
Service Centers and Extension; (iv) Establishment of Malema Cotton Farming Cluster (MCFC);
(v) Preparation for the Development of Integrated Textile Park; and (vi) Support for Project
Implementation, Consultancy and Audit.
The total cost of the project is estimated at USD73.73 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$10.0 million by way of loan financing.

8. Support to Yellow Fever Vaccine Production Project, Senegal
The overall objective of the project is to contribute to improve the health status of the population
by ensuring universal access to quality preventive healthcare services in Senegal. Specifically,
the project will address the regional and global demand for Yellow Fever Vaccine (YFV) through
increasing the YFV production capacity from 4.5 million to 15 – 30 million doses per year.
The key expected results are: (i) Incidence of 130,000 cases and 44,000 deaths annually of
YF in endemic African countries decreased, (ii) A new WHO prequalified YFV production unit
constructed and fully equipped, and (iii) YFV capacity production increased from 4.5 million
doses to 15 – 30 million doses per year.
The project’s scope comprises the following: (i) the construction of YFV production unit, (ii)
the acquisition of modern pharmaceutical and specialized equipment and furniture for YFV
production unit, (iii) the qualification and validation of the YFV production process, and (iv)
support to the project implementation.
The total cost of the project is estimated at USD23.02 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$10.0 million by way of loan financing.

9. Support to Maternal, Newborn and Child Health Project (MNCH), Cameroon
The objective of the project is to contribute to Cameroon’s National Multi-sectoral Program for
to Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (MNCH) goal, which is to reduce maternal, neonatal
and infant mortalities in Cameroon. The specific objectives of the project are to: (i) improve
quality of MNCH services in 34 health districts, and (ii) promote MNCH services seeking
behavior and solidarity-based “micro-Takaful” through community mobilization. The following
key results are expected by 2020: (i) 21 District Hospitals (DHs) and 85 Integrated Healthcare
Centers (IHCs) equipped for basic Emergency Obstetric and Neonatal Care; (ii) 35 IHCs
equipped with boreholes, solar energy and 5 modern latrines each; (iii) 11 districts having
functional referral and counter referral system for Emergency Obstetric and Neonatal Care
services; (iv) Community-Based Health Insurance schemes using solidarity-based “microTakaful” established in 11 districts; (v) 2 dormitories built for 2 midwifery schools; (vi) 3,934
health workers trained on Integrated Management of Childhood Illness and Maternal, Newborn
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and Child Health promotion. At completion, the project will directly benefit about 4.5 million
inhabitants of the 34 targeted districts.
The Project’s scope comprises the following main components: (i) Human and Institutional
Capacity Development, (ii) Civil Works (construction of dormitories, boreholes, solar energy
and modern latrines) (iii) acquisition of drugs, medical equipment and supplies, (iv) Community,
social mobilization and Islamic solidarity “micro-Takaful”, and (v) support to the Project
Management.
The total cost of the project is estimated at USD31.16 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$12.0 million through loan financing.

10. FATA Temporary Displaced Persons Housing Project – (Phase 1), Pakistan
The objective of the project is to provide support to the temporary displaced families build
back or retrofit their damaged houses. This will be done through: (i) providing financial and
technical assistance to the owners of 18,000 affected houses in FATA to build back better,
appropriate and disaster resilient houses; and (ii) support the communities to gain sustainable
livelihoods through microfinance schemes.
The key expected results include (i) building of 18,000 of returning families; (ii) training of
10,000 persons/house owners in building disaster resilient houses; (iii) training of 500 artisans;
(iv) creating 5,000 construction jobs; and (v) supporting the livelihood of 5,000 families through
a microfinance scheme.
The project’s scope consists of: (i) Civil Works for reconstruction of damaged houses, (ii)
Livelihood Support/Microfinance, (iii) Capacity building for Beneficiaries and Technology
Transfer, (iv) Monitoring & Supervision, (v) Project Management Unit (PMU), (vi) Financial Audit
Services, and (vii) Start-up workshop and a familiarization visit.
The total cost of the project is estimated at USD65.40 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$5.0 million by way of loan financing.

11. Reverse Linkage Project Between Suriname and Malaysia in Rice Production
The overall goal of the project is to enhance the capacity of Suriname in rice production in order
to maintain self- sufficiency and increase its exports of high quality rice. The specific objective
is to produce high quality rice varieties and to increase the rice yield per hectare from 5 to 7 ton.
This will be done through: (i) introduction of new area-specific rice varieties with disease
and pest resistant characteristics, together with their appropriate breeding programs and
support systems; (ii) strengthening of soil fertility; and (iii) development of an integrated water
management system. These are considered the 3 pillars of engagement that will be undertaken
by the Malaysian Agricultural Research & Development Institute to the development the rice
subsector in Suriname.
The project’s scope includes the following: (i) Introduction of new area-specific rice varieties
and their breeding programmes and support systems; (ii) Strengthening soil fertility; (iii)
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Development of an integrated water management system; and (iv) Reverse Linkage project
coordination and monitoring.
The total cost of the project is estimated at USD7.728 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$5.896 million by way of loan financing.

12. Bilingual Education System Strengthening Project – Djibouti
This project is in line with the National Education Strategy (2010- 2019) and Education Sector
Action Plan of the Government of Djibouti. It aims at: (i) achieving universal primary education
and 90 per cent for the intermediate level through strengthening bilingual education system;
and (ii) reducing the schooling disparities at the primary and secondary levels, all by 2019. The
project will specifically contribute to increase access to quality bilingual education through
establishment of bilingual education schools for dual language competency and enhancing the
management of the bilingual education system.
The project is aligned with IDB 1440H Vision, “Comprehensive Human Development and
Poverty Reduction Strategy,” and its Medium Term Business Strategy - conforming to the
second pillar of the Education Sector Policy of the Bank.
The scope of the project includes establishment of six bilingual schools, acquisition of furniture,
recruitment of teachers, acquisition of teaching and learning materials/equipment, training of
teachers, curricula development, provision of e-learning infrastructure, acquisition of textbooks,
hiring of a bilingual education expert, study tour, management information system, training
of management of bilingual education system, sensitization campaigns, support to project
management, supervision consultancy services, start-up workshop, and project financial audit
services.
The total cost of the project is estimated at US$11.09 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$10.02 million (91.9%) by way of loan financing. The remaining amount will be
contributed by the Government of Djibouti.

13. Sarymsak Irrigation Scheme Development Project, Kyrgyz Republic
The Project aims to support the Government of Kyrgyz Republic to achieve the objectives
of its “National Sustainable Development Strategy” and address the irrigation sub-sector
challenges by improving farmers’ access to irrigation water and improvement of water resource
management. It will contribute to improvement of the welfare of the rural communities, reduce
poverty, and enhance national food security. The project objectives meet the IDB Vision 1440H
(2020) Key Strategic Thrusts No. 2 on “Poverty Alleviation” and No. 5 on “Prospering the
People”.
The main objective of the project is to improve the living conditions of the rural communities,
alleviate poverty, contribute to national food security and enable regional economic development.
At completion, the key expected results include: (i) Increase the yields of main crops (bean,
maze, potato, wheat, fodder) by an average of 20%; (ii) Increase the annual production of the

34

Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD)

OPERATIONS IN 1436H (2015)

main crops to 24,000 tons in the project’s area; (iii) Increase irrigation canals’ efficiency from
50%, to 80%, and (iv) mobilize additional 4.0 million m3 of water supply for irrigation use.
The project’s scope consists of: (i) Civil works: Improvement of Sarymsak Irrigation
System; (ii) Supply of Machinery and Equipment; (iii) Capacity Building on Water Resources
Management; (iv) Consultancy Services for Detailed Design and Construction Supervision; (v)
Project Management Support; (vi) Financial Audit Services; and (vii) Start-up Workshop and
Familiarization visit.
The total cost of the project is estimated at US$16.37 million towards which the ISFD has
contributed US$3.0 million (18.3%) by way of loan financing. The remaining amount will be
contributed by the IDB (US$10.25 million – 62.6%) and Kyrgyz Republic Government (US$3.12
million – 19.1%).

Microfinance and Vocational Literacy Programs Impact Assessment
The ISFD has carried an impact assessment of its Microfinance Services (MFSP) and
Vocational Literacy (VOLIP) programs which concludes that both programs have been
and will remain relevant to the ISFD/IDB. Their design aims at the achievement of the IDB
and ISFD’s main objectives of reducing poverty in its member countries by promoting
pro-poor growth and strategies. Both programs are complementary: MFSP with a
services supply approach enhances opportunities to economic active poor; while VOLIP
with its support to the employment demand side creates capabilities. Both contribute to
empowerment, VOLIP most particularly towards young and women.
The MFSP design clearly contributes to the achievement of the IDB and ISFD’s
objectives in trying to reinforce and add value to the conventional microfinance industry
by promoting Islamic Microfinance products and services in response to demands of
the poor.
The Vocational Literacy Program (VOLIP) has achieved some impressive gains in all
the countries in which it has been implemented. Training opportunities, fundamentally
an apprentice-based system, for non-attendees, school dropouts, youth and women
have been provided in the remotest regions in some countries. Based on the evidence
collected, the training approach (literacy skills in the morning and vocational skills in
the afternoon) has resulted in beneficiaries’ more positive perceptions of their future
prospect.
The program has already created income-earning prospects for the trainers, who, without
the additional equipment, which is not accessible through the program, would not be
able to accept as many trainees. As part of the training, trainees provide services (e.g.
soap making, tailoring/dress-making) or goods (welded metal work) through which the
artisan trainers were able to earn income while imparting skills to the trainees, assisting
in paying off the loan used to purchase the equipment. Furthermore, the equipment’s
availability means that skills training could provide a sustainable a source of income in
the future.
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The ISFD Board of Directors
is responsible for approving
loan proposals, policies, the
administrative budget, setting
the terms and conditions of
financing and operational
procedures, providing
guidance on specific fields of
activity, and making decisions
on strategic matters in
accordance with the powers
conferred on it by the ISFD
regulations. The Board has
a Standing Committee (the
Audit Committee) that reviews
and discusses documents
that are subsequently
submitted to the Board for
consideration and approval.

Corporate
Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

3

Corporate Governance

40th IDB Group Annual Meeting of the Board of Governors was held in Maputo, Mozambique, 20-24 Sha’ban 1436H (7 – 11June 2015).

Activities of the ISFD Board of Governors
The 8th Annual Meeting of the ISFD BOG was held in Maputo in Mozambique on Thursday 24
Sha`ban 1436H (11 June 2015), in conjunction with the 40th IDB Group Annual Meeting of the
BOG. The BOG approved all the recommendations presented by the Procedures Committee of
the BOG in connection with the ISFD, and adopted six resolutions relating to the Fund.
The BOG adopted the ISFD Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial
year ending on 30 Dhul Hijjah 1435H (24 November 2014). While the Board has acknowledged
the efforts made in respect of resource mobilization, it expressed concerns about the low levels
of contributions to the capital of the ISFD by member countries.
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The BOG was informed that the ISFD was planning to review its business model and launch
an aggressive resource mobilization campaign to enhance its operations and address the low
levels of capital contributions. However, the Board was advised that there was no response
from member countries in relation to the implementation of its resolution No. ISFD/BG/3-432
calling on them to base their voluntary contributions to the ISFD capital based on a specific
criterion which takes into account the country’s real GDP, total exports value and foreign
exchange reserves. The BOG issued a new resolution (No. ISFD/BG/3-436) reconfirming its
decision in this regard and requested management to follow up with member countries to
implement this resolution.
The BOG decided that the 9th Annual Meeting of the ISFD BOG would be held in Jakarta,
Indonesia on Thursday 12 Sha’aban 1437H; corresponding to 19 May 2016. It also approved
Messrs.’ Deloitte & Touché and Bakr Abulkhair & Co. as auditors of the ISFD Financial Accounts
in 1436H (2015).

Activities of the ISFD Board of Directors
As per the regulations of the ISFD, the Board of Executive Directors of the IDB is the Board
of Directors of the ISFD (BOD) and chaired by the President of the IDB Group. The Board of
Directors is responsible for overseeing the activities of the Fund and for this purpose may
exercise all the powers delegated to it by the Board of Governors.
The Board is responsible for approving loan proposals, policies, the administrative
budget, setting the terms and conditions of financing and operational procedures, providing
guidance on specific fields of activity, and making decisions on strategic matters in accordance
with the powers conferred on it by the ISFD regulations. The Board has a Standing Committee
(the Audit Committee) that reviews and discusses documents that are subsequently submitted
to the Board for consideration and approval.
In 1436H (2015), the BOD held four meetings (49th, 50th, 51st & 52nd BOD Meetings) during
which it considered a number of items related to projects financing and policy issues. The
BOD considered four ISFD Progress Reports during these meetings highlighting the  status  of  
resource  mobilization, ISFD  operations,   ISFD  impact  and  achievements,  new initiatives,  
communication  and  advocacy,   partnerships   and  co-financing, and  ISFD  human resources,
other various activities carried out by the Fund during the year, as well as areas for further
actions and improvement.
The Board commended and cleared the program on the Women and Youth Enterprise and
delegated the authority to the President, IDB, for subsequent approval of the program’s
framework. It also stated that creation of employment opportunities for women and youth
should be one of the main objectives of the ISFD and emphasized that this program should
help the Fund to achieve its objective of creating income generation activities for the poor.
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The Board approved 19 operations amounting to US$133.4 million for poverty reduction
projects/ programs in 15 IDB member countries. The Board also commended the new initiative
on “Save the Mothers”. It also appreciated the proposal of ISFD participation in the BuyDown Facility (The Lives and Livelihoods Fund) set-up by IDB and the Bill & Melinda Gate’s
Foundation and commended the partner- and networking relationships of the Fund for that.
It also approved the proposal for  deploying  a  total  of  US$100  million  as “extra-ordinary  
grant” to support the initiative  in five equal annual instalments of US$20 million each to be paid
over five years at the beginning of each year.
The Board re-emphasized that combating poverty requires targeted interventions in the areas
of social and human development – such as basic education, health services, empowering
citizens, men and women equally, and providing the poor and vulnerable with basic services.
On the investments of the ISFD, the BOD remarked that the targeted benchmark rate of return
of 3.52% was on the low side and should be reviewed to improve the investments return. It
also emphasized that the services of an External Fund Manager could be sought to improve
returns on investments. It also directed that the ISFD Investment Policy should be looked into
by the BOD Committee to review the targets for the asset classes and accordingly the overall
rate of return targets.
The Board approved a proposed amendment in the ISFD Grant Assistance Policy to increase
the annual allocation of grant assistance from 3% of the ISFD net income to 10%. The Board
required that any amount above this allocation should be subject to specific BOD approval.
The Board approved the administrative budget for ISFD for 1436H consisting of: (i) Program
implementation budget of ID1.77 million; and (ii) Administrative budget of ID 1.06 million.

Contributions to the ISFD Capital
The Board considered the low level of contributions to the ISFD capital with no new
announcements or substantive payments from member countries over the past three years.
It urged the Fund’s management to continue sensitization of member countries to make new
pledges and pay the committed amounts. It also emphasized the role of complementary
and in-kind capital contributions and innovative programs for resource mobilization. It also
commended the management for the progress on obtaining Waqf lands from member countries
to be developed to generate additional resources for the Fund in accordance with the ISFD
BOG resolution (No. ISFD/BG/3-433) in this regard.

ISFD Management
The current ISFD organization structure is composed of a Director General and two Divisions:
the Strategy & Program Management Division and the Advocacy & Special Programs Division.
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The current Director General of the ISFD is Dr. Waleed Abdul Mohsin Al-Wohaib. Dr. Mohamed
Safiullah Munsoor is heading the Program Management Division. As at end of 1436H (13
October 2015), the Fund’s staffing, in addition to the Director General, was composed of 9
professionals and 4 support staff. As per the new organization structure of the Fund, the ISFD
Director General reports directly to the President of the IDB and has a Vice President authority.
Organizing a Side Event on “Disaster Risk Management Challenges in Sub-Saharan
Africa” 8 June 2015 in Maputo, Mozambique
The ISFD organized a side event on “Disaster Risk Management Challenges in Sub-Saharan
Africa” as part of the activities of the 40th IDB Board of Governors Meeting on 8 June 2015
in Maputo, Mozambique. The event was organized in collaboration with the IDB Trust Funds
Department jointly with Statistical, Economic, Social Research and Training Centre for Islamic
Countries (SESRIC). It at providing a forum for specialized experts to discuss the outcome of the
IDB/SESRIC Study on Disaster Risk Management and mobilize actions in support of disaster
risk management programs and sustainable development, particularly through prioritizing the
needs of the IDB low-income member countries with respect to capacity development. It also
provided an opportunity for member countries to benefit from the opportunities for partnership
with relevant organizations and financial institutions to address their capacity development
needs in this important area.
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Financial Review
Resources of the ISFD
The ISFD has an approved target capital of US$10.0 billion. The position of capital subscriptions
as at the end of 436H (2015) is shown in Annex I. These are composed of voluntary contributions
by member countries of the IDB, and the IDB. The Fund has no callable capital.
Total pledges as at the end of 1436H (2015) stood at US$2.68 billion, composed of US$1.68
billion committed by 44 IDB member countries, and US$1.0 billion committed by the IDB. The
biggest pledges were made by Saudi Arabia (US$1.0 billion), Kuwait (US$300.0 million), Iran
(US$100.0 million, Algeria (US$50.0 million, and Qatar (US$50.0 million).
Paid-in capital was US$2.377 billion as at the end of 1436H (2015), compared to US$2.269
billion in 1435H (2014). Out of the cumulative payments, as of end-1436H (2015), an amount of
US$1.577 billion was paid by member countries and US$800.0 million by the IDB.
The Fund has separate accounts and records of its capital resources and operations. All
operations and investment activities of the Fund are conducted in conformity with Shariah
(Islamic law) governing Islamic Awqaf (Trusts). Although the accounts of the Fund are held in
US dollars, the ISFD Regulations stipulate that they can be kept in any currency, currencies, or
unit of account that the Board of Directors of the Fund may deem appropriate. As an interim
measure, the BOD has decided to use the US dollar as a unit of account of the Fund since its
capital is denominated in US dollars. The Fund’s accounts are kept by the IDB Finance Control
Department and its capital resources are so far invested by the IDB Treasury, investment, IFSD,
and Infrastructure Departments.

Operations Financing
ISFD approvals in 1436H (2015) amounted to US$133.36 million, for 19 operations in member
countries. These operations have been financed from the ISFD income and allocation of income
from the IDB Waqf Fund for part of the ISFD Grant Assistance operations, which amounted
to US$19.58 million. The terms and conditions applied to the ISFD operations were set in a
manner to ensure that financing is provided on concessional terms to the member countries
while preserving the value of the ISFD capital resources and the Fund’s long-term sustainability.
Outstanding loans, representing net disbursements, were standing at US$96.509 million as at
the end of 1436H, compared to US$94.162 million for the same period in 1435H.
The resources of the Fund and those of the Bank, according to the Regulations, shall at all
times and in all respects be held, used, committed, invested or otherwise disposed of entirely
separately from each other. The ordinary capital resources of the Bank could not be charged
with, or used to discharge, losses or liabilities arising out of special operations for which the
resources of the ISFD were originally used or committed.
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Income
The ISFD liquid funds are composed of paid-in contributions from member countries and the
IDB in addition to the unutilized earnings of the Fund. In accordance with the ISFD Investment
Policy, these funds were invested in commodity murabaha and short-term Shariah compatible
placements in 1436H (2015). More than 95% of the Fund’ investments were made in US dollar
and Euro.
Gross Income
ISFD gross income in 1436H (2015) was US$65.025 million, compared to US$75.640 million
in 1435H (2014). This income is composed mainly of earnings from Sukuk –Islamic bonds–
(US$42.667 million), commodity placements (US$15.846 million), and murabaha (US$5.851
million). The gross income achieved in 1436H was less than the level achieved in 1435H. This
was mainly due to a reduction in the income from sukuk by US$4.688 million and a reduction in
income from investments in syndicated murabaha by US$2.502 million. There was also a loss
in swap of foreign currency amounting to US$2.499 million, compared to a profit amounting to
US$1.728 million achieved on this item in 1435H (2014). However, it is worth mentioning that
there was no provision for losses or loan impairment in the ISFD accounts for the past three
years, which indicates a healthy position of the ISFD assets and loan portfolio.
Net Income
Net income in 1436H (2015) was US$62.07 million, a fall by 14.2% from the US$72.33 million
profit achieved in 1435H (2014). This constitutes a return of 2.34% and 2.88% on the net
assets of the Fund in these two years respectively. Given the fact that the Fund’s net assets
had increased by only 5.75% during this period (from US$2.509 billion to US$2.653 billion), this
shows a drop in the returns on the Fund’s investments of its capital resources and unutilized
retained earnings during 1436H. However, this drop is mainly due to an unrealized fair value
loss of US$8.32 million on the ISFD Sukuk (Islamic bonds) holdings.

Management of Liquid Funds
The ISFD is required to invest its resources which will not be immediately required for financing
its operations. As a Waqf (i.e. Trust), paid-in capital would not be available for utilization in the
Fund’s operational activities. Therefore, to maximize the income of the Fund, liquidity would
be maintained only to the extent that it can meet the Fund’s current cash requirements and
undisbursed commitments. The ISFD liquid assets are invested based on guidelines which are
specified in the ISFD Investment Policy.
The ISFD investment portfolio was standing at USD2.554 billion as at the end of 1436H,
composed of paid-in capital resources and retained earnings. Investment assets included:
Money Market Instruments, Trade Finance, Sukuk (Islamic bonds), Funds, Equity, Real Estate,
and Project Finance. To achieve the strategic objectives of its Investment Plan, the Fund’s
investment portfolio was geared towards a widely diversified asset allocation scheme –
geographically, sector-wise and by asset class. Limits were specified to manage exposure to
specific instruments, currencies, and other relevant exposures. Pre-determined benchmark
returns were set for each asset class and used to measure the extent to which the investments
portfolio was capable of delivering value and returns in accordance with the initial objectives
of the investment plan.
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Table (1) compares the ISFD’s actual investment holdings with the predetermined targets and
benchmark portfolio in 1436H. It shows the target holdings (column 2); current allocations
(column 3); maximum and minimum allocations (columns 4 and 5); and the actual returns vis-àvis the benchmark returns for all asset classes in the investment plan (columns 6 & 7). It shows
that the actual rate of return achieved as at the end of the year was 2.95%, compared to the
benchmark return of 3.52%. This partly accounts for the drop in the net income of the Fund as
shown above.
Going forward, the ISFD plans to use a portion of its core capital to invest in the traditional
financial instruments and pro-poor projects in order to create maximum impact on poverty
alleviation. The ISFD may also hire the services of external fund managers, where deemed
appropriate. The ISFD Investment Policy will also be regularly reviewed to optimize returns on
investment. Further, the Fund will also emphasize creative Resource Mobilization, including
core capital as well as complementary capital (co-financing, Waqf land, etc.), to maximize its
capital resources.
Table (1): ISFD Investments Instruments Exposure and Returns in 1436H (2015)
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Asset Type

Target
Allocation

Current
Allocation

Max.
Allocation

Min.
Allocation

Benchmark
Return

Actual
Return

Money Market

10%

21%

15%

5%

0.52%

1.78%

Trade Finance

15%

10%

20%

5%

2.32%

3.51%

Sukuk (MT)

30%

52%

40%

20%

3.41%

3.19%

Sukuk (LT)

15%

12%

15%

10%

3.41%

3.19%

Equity

10%

3%

15%

5%

7.00%

3.11%

Real Estate

10%

1%

15%

5%

6.00%

7.10%

PPP Finance

10%

1%

10%

5%

2.82%

2.00%

TOTAL

100%

3.52%

2.95%

Table (2) ISFD Key Financial Indicators (in US$m)
1430H

1431H

1432H

1433H

Capital Contributions:
Commitments

2,629.0

2,629.0

2.639.36

2,679.36 2,679,360 2,679,360

2,679.36

Capital Contributions:
Payments

1,060.7

1,531.8

1,633.8

1,743.22 2,166,651 2,269,595

2,377,594

422.5

371.1

1.02

9.45

323.43

2.94

7.99

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Gross Income

11.23

20.02

31.88

62.36

29.49

75.64

65.025

Net Income

2.568

18.62

30.07

59.86

26.48

72.33

62.07

Contributions received
during the year From
member countries
Contributions received
during the year From
the IDB
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ISFD plan for resource mobilization going forward:
Consultation with member countries to implement the ISFD
Board of Governors” Resolution relating to the criteria for
determining appropriate level of the contribution to ISFD
capital.
Mounting high level missions to the member countries to
sensitize them about the ISFD programs and request their
contributions.
Call for member countries to donate plots of land to the ISFD
To develop and implement ISFD Ambassador Program
Launch media campaign to attract philanthropists and
enhance efforts for partnerships for resource mobilization.

Progress in Mobilizing core Capital
Paid capital against the Commitment (1436H)
% of paid capital to the Commitment increases signiﬁcantly
3
2.5
2

2.63

2.63

2.64

1
0.5
0

1.53

42%

65%

62%

58%

1.5

81%

2.68

85%

2.68

88%

2.68

1.74

1.63

2.68

2.17

2.27

2.37

1.1

2009

2010

2011

Commitment

2012

2013

Paid capital

2014

2015

Paid capital / Commitment

ISFD Investment Returns (1430H to 1436H)
80

4.00%
2.96%

3.42%

70

2.69%

60
50

3.00%
2.50%

2.01%

40

2.00%
1.84%

30

1.50%

1.22%

20
10

1.00%
0.24%

0.50%

0

0.00%
1430H

1431H

1432H

1433H

1434H

1435H

1436H

2.568

18.62

30.07

59.57

43.56

60.97

70.4

Normalized Net Income (US$ million)
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Challenges
and Prospects
ISFD Business Model
Spanning over the last 10 years since it was conceptualized, and within the context of its 8-year
operation period, the ISFD is seen to have faced a number of challenges and constraints, which
limited its interventions for poverty reduction in member countries. This was partly attributed to
the limited level of mobilized capital resources and low returns on its investments.
In review of the ISFD progress over the past 8 years, the BOD took a decision in March 20151,
calling for re-examination of the Fund’s Business Model and Organizational Structure, in order
to optimize its performance.
Consequently, an external consultant was hired to review the business model of the ISFD and
suggest options in order to strengthen the Fund’s operations and enhance its income and
resources mobilization. At the same time, a BOD sub-committee was constituted to follow up
on the required actions and guide the process for the implementation of the BOD decision.
Following the completion of this study on ISFD Business Operating Model and Re-Structuring,
the BOD Sub-Committee deliberated the outcome of the report, taking into account the ISFD
Staff perspective.
The following key points in the operation of the Fund were emphasized in the Consultant’s
report:
− Formulating effective work programs in order to attract the donors and contributors as well
as applying best practices in fighting poverty.
− Ensuring effective targeting of the ISFD operations to reach the poor on the ground.
− Strengthening the management of the Fund in order to improve performance.
− Developing quick wins in all respective areas to meet the challenges of the Fund, as well as
establishing regional funds targeted at the poor.
− The Fund should endeavor to make breakthrough achievements on two key areas, namely,
resource mobilization, including creative methods for resource mobilization, and operations.
− Lessons learnt from other similar Funds should be used to model ISFD.
Based on thorough discussions of the Consultant’s report and ISFD staff views, the BOD
decided as follows:
i)

To maintain ISFD as a Special Fund within IDB as per the Article 3 – of the Regulations of
the ISFD.

ii) Approve a new a business model with the Director General be the Head of ISFD reporting
directly to the IDB President / Chairman of the Board of Director of ISFD.   The DG will
have an oversight functions for resource mobilization, investments of the capital resources,
advocacy and innovative projects.  
1 No. ISFD/BOD/17/436/(50)/23
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ii) Programming, project appraisal, project implementation and other activities of the ISFD
operations to be carried out with the relevant Departments within the IDB.

Enhancing ISFD Business Model:
The approved ISFD business model, as cleared by the BOD, is framed within the following
three lines of activities:
i. Resource Mobilization
ii. Investment
iii. Operations
Within these lines of business, four primary focus areas have been identified for the Fund:
i. Creative Resource Mobilization, including core capital as well as complementary capital
(co-financing and waqf donations)
ii. Investment of the Fund’s core capital, including in-house investments and outsourcing, if
need be, of fund managers.
iii. Development of innovative poverty reduction programs.
iv. Advocacy and Sensitization, particularly about the ISFD programs and projects, as well
as well as positioning the Fund to play the role of an advisory/knowledge hub for poverty
reduction in member countries.

Resource Mobilization
According to Article 7 of the Regulations of the ISFD, the resources of the Fund available for
utilization in its activities consist of: i) income from the Waqf, ii) funds derived from operations
or otherwise accruing to the Fund, and iii) other resources received by the Fund. However,
according to Article 8 of the Regulations, the ISFD may enter into arrangements to receive other
resources, including grants or loans from member countries or institutions of member countries
of the Bank and from any public or private entity or entities or individual as the Board of Directors
may determine. In this respect, the BOD emphasized the role of complementary resource
mobilization, such as waqf donations (land, cash, etc.) and co-financing. The BOD also called
for providing incentives to encourage participation of targeted institutions, entities or individuals,
as well as constitution of the ISFD Advisory Board to be part of the Resource Mobilization Plan.
Investment:
According to the new plan, for Investment of its core capital, the ISFD will use a portion of
its core capital to invest in traditional financial instruments and pro-poor projects in order to
enhance its income and maximize impact on poverty in member countries. The ISFD may hire
the services of external fund managers, where deemed appropriate. The BOD emphasized that
the ISFD Investment Policy should be regularly reviewed to optimize returns on investment.
Operations:
In line with the new business model, operations of ISFD will be guided by the following:
i)

Programming and projects’ appraisal/implementation will be assigned to the relevant IDB
Complexes, and, where suitable to external partners. Thus, ISFD may not be directly
involved in the execution of its operations.

ii)

Develop formal understanding via MOUs to reach its outputs/KPIs, delivered within the
various Complexes (Operations, Finance, CCD, CEC) and Entities as required.
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iii)

Identify suitable external Partners (multi-lateral; bi-lateral and NGOs) who can effectively
implement programs/projects for the Fund apart from the IDB Complexes.

iv)

Identify ways and means to fast-track ISFD Operations, both for utilizing loans, as well as grants.

v)

Provide Capacity Building grants to build human and institutional capacities to expedite
project implementation.

vi)

Develop a Project Preparation Facility (PPF) through the use of ISFD’s approved grant
operations to better design programmes/projects.

vii)

Emphasize sectoral selectivity in the operational plans. This entails focusing on a few
areas of intervention, such as employment creation, agriculture and rural development,
health, rural infrastructure, as well as thematic focusing on youth, and women.

viii) Support quick win projects/programs through increasing ISFD grant portfolio to better
target and up-scale successful and innovative projects. This will help in creating greater
impact on the poor and improve the Fund’s visibility.
ix)

Identify and target successful projects in member countries and call for proposals, in
order to up-scale and replicate them in other member countries.

x)

Rigorously implement the approved Eligibility Criteria for better targeting the poor and
vulnerable groups, so as to ensure the required impact.

xi)

Establish monitoring mechanisms and interactive exchanges, which will enable ISFD to
oversee its operations, as well as receive periodic reporting from the complexes and other
Partners to ISFD.

Appointment of a Director General for the ISFD
In line with the approved new organization structure of the Fund, Dr. Waleed Abdul Mohsin
Al Wohaib, ex-CEO of the International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation (ITFC), has been
appointed Director General of the ISFD – effective 31 December 2015.
Way forward
With the adoption of the new business model, appointment of a Director General, and
streamlining of the core activities of the Fund – in terms of operations, investment and resource
mobilization – it is clear that the ISFD has been given a great impetus to improve its capacity in
fighting poverty in member countries.

Dr. Waleed Abdul Mohsin Al Wohaib
Director General of the ISFD
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ANNEX-I - ISFD Capital Contributions
As at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H (13 October 2015)
Amounts in USD
No

Countries

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

Albania
Algeria
Azerbaijan
Bahrain
Bangladesh
Benin
Brunei
Burkina Faso
Cameroon
Chad
Cote d’Ivoire
Egypt
Gabon

Commitments

Payment

10,000
50,000,000
300,000
2,000,000
13,000,000
12,250,000
2,000,000
2,200,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
4,000,000

0
50,000,000
424,000
2,000,000
5,000,000
0
2,000,000
2,238,000
2,000,000
0
0
10,000,000
4,000,000

14

Gambia

No commitment

12,000

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45

Guinea
Indonesia
Iran
Iraq
Jordan
Kazakhstan
Kuwait
Lebanon
Malaysia
Mali
Mauritania
Morocco
Mozambique
Niger
Nigeria
Oman
Pakistan
Palestine
Qatar
Saudi Arabia
Senegal
Sierra Leone
Sudan
Suriname
Syria
Togo
Tunisia
Turkey
Uganda
Uzbekistan
Yemen Republic

2,000,000
10,000,000
100,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000
11,000,000.00
300,000,000
1,000,000
20,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
200,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
500,000
50,000,000
1,000,000,000
10,000,000
1,000,000
15,000,000
500,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
100,000
300,000
3,000,000

2,000,000
10,000,000
65,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000
11,000,000
300,000,000
1,000,000
20,000,000
0
0
5,000,000
200,000
0
2,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
186,000
50,000,000
1,000,000,000
0
300,000
944,000
500,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
0
300,000
3,000,000
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1,000,000,000

800,000,000

2,679,360,000

2,377,594,000

Grand Total
* IDB had made an additional payment of US$100 million in 1437H (2016)
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ISFD Approvals: 1436H (2015)
Amounts in USD
Project Name

Country

Total
Project
Cost

ISFD

IDB Government

Other Cofinanciers
-   

Bilingual Basic Education Project

Mali

23,000,000 10,000,000                  -        13,000,000

Health System Strengthening Project

Sierra Leone

11,100,000 10,000,000

3

Support to Yellow Fever Vaccine
Production

Senegal

26,012,600

4

Sustainable Housing for to Low
Income Urban Communities

Bangladesh

           
              
           
25,000,000 12,000,000 8,000,000

5,000,000

5

Integrated Microfinance Support
Program (Phase II)

Benin

           
           
           
67,130,000 20,000,000 30,000,000

17,130,000

6

Mont Mbappit Rural Development
Project

Cameroon

33,270,000

Rural Electrification Project

Senegal

58,300,000

8

Sarymsak Irrigation Scheme
Development Project

Kyrgyzstan

16,370,000

9

PROMOTION OF BILINGUAL
EDUCATI ON  

10

1
2

           

8,475,000

-   
              

8,475,000

              

1,100,000
9,062,600

           

              
           
2,000,000 28,520,000

2,750,000

           

              
           
4,000,000 23,500,000

1,500,000

           

              
           
3,000,000 10,250,000

3,120,000

Nigeria

         
           
           
108,392,500 18,000,000 79,212,500

11,180,000

Bilingual Education System
Strengthening Project

Djibouti

           
           
              
16,090,000 10,020,000 5,000,000

1,070,000

11

FATA TDPs Housing  Project

Pakistan

5,000,000

12

Enhancing Rice Production (Reverse
Linkage)

Suriname

7,728,000

13

Support to Maternal, Newborn and
Child Health Project

Cameroon

14

Educational Support for Syrian
Children - Grant

Syria

15

Capacity Building for National
Statistics - Grant

Regional

70,000

16

Sustainable Prevention of Obstetric
Fistula - Grant

Somalia

100,000

17

Arab Women Entrepreneurship
Initiative - Grant

MENA

Aqua Culture Development - Grant

Mozambique

Zakat CDD - Grant

Indonesia

7

18
19

TOTAL
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-   

           
           

                                 
-   

         

                                 
-   

           

                                 
-   

           

               

29,300,000

           

                                 
-   

         

                                 
-   

           

                                 
-   

-   

-   

-   

                             
-   

                           
-   

                                 
-   

           
           
           
25,000,000 12,000,000 10,000,000

3,000,000

           

                                 
-   

3,000,000

5,000,000
              

              
                    

5,896,000

3,000,000
70,000

              

              

                             
-   

                           
-   

                                 
-   

                    

                             
-   

                           
-   

                                 
-   

100,000

25,000-   

              

                             
-   

16,500,000

         

                                 
-   

                    

                             
-   

                           
-   

                                 
-   

-   

-   

-

451,863,100 133,361,000 202,957,500

84,437,600

29,300,000

26,000,000
50,000
250,000

           

-   

                    

9,500,000
50,000
250,000
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Independent Joint Auditors’ Report

AUDITOR’S REPORT

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Al Fozan & Al Sadhan

P.O. Box 16415
Jeddah 21464
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

P. O. Box 55078
Jeddah 21534
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

INDEPENDENT JOINT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Your Excellences the Chairman and Members of the Board of Governors
Islamic Development Bank,
Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of The Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (the “Fund”) of the
Islamic Development Bank as of Dhul Hijjah 30, 1436H (October 13, 2015) and the related statements of income, changes in net assets
and cash flows for the year then ended and the attached notes from 1 to 24 which form an integral part of the financial statements.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the Financial
Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and to operate in
accordance with Islamic Shari’ah rules and principles and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by the AAOIFI and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund as at Dhul Hijjah 30, 1436H
(October 13, 2015), and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the AAOIFI for Islamic Financial Institutions and the Shari’ah rules and principles as
determined by the Shari’ah Committee of the Fund.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

			

Ali A. Al Otaibi
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 379

KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan

Ebrahim Oboud Baeshen
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 382
Jumad-ul-Awwal 29, 1437H
March 9, 2016
Jeddah
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ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollar unless otherwise stated)

Notes

1436H

1435H

Cash and cash equivalents

4

63,218

43,171

Commodity placements

5

537,904

511,457

Investments in syndicated murabaha

6

365,132

227,208

Investments in Sukuk

7

1,448,010

1,521,224

96,509

94,162

8

26,106

21,657

Investments in equity capital

9

45,478

41,602

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

10

19,576

20,000

Other investments

11

74,500

29,846

2,676,433

2,510,327

ASSETS
Treasury assets

Loans and other assets
Loans
Accrued income and other assets
Investment assets

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

12

729

1,202

Grants payable

14

22,215

-

2,653,489

2,509,125

2,377,594

2,269,595

Retained earnings

275,024

235,719

Fair value reserve

871

3,811

2,653,489

2,509,125

NET ASSETS
REPRESENTED BY:
Fund resources

1

The accompanying notes from 1 to 20 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
INCOME STATEMENT
Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollar unless otherwise stated)

Notes

1436H

1435H

15,846

15,913

5,851

8,353

42,667

47,355

1,604

1,530

Investments in equity capital

410

-

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

315

562

Other investments

739

228

67,432

73,941

92

(29)

(2,499)

1,728

65,025

75,640

(2,146)

(2,503)

(804)

(806)

62,075

72,331

Income from:
Treasury assets
Commodity placements
Investments in syndicated murabaha
Investments in Sukuk

7

Loan and other assets
Loan service fees
Investment assets

Foreign exchange gain /(loss)
Swap (loss)/gain
Total income
Employee related expenses
General and administrative expenses
Net income for the year

8

The accompanying notes from 1 to 20 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollar unless otherwise stated)

Fund
resources

Retained
earnings

Fair Value
reserve

2,166,651

163,388

-

2,330,039

102,944

-

-

102,944

Net income for the year

-

72,331

Fair value reserve

-

-

3,811

3,811

2,269,595

235,719

3,811

2,509,125

107,999

-

-

107,999

Net income for the year

-

62,075

-

62,075

Fair Value reserve

-

-

(2,940)

(2,940)

Grant allocation (Note 14)

-

(22,770)

-

(22,770)

2,377,594

275,024

871

2,653,489

Balance at 1 Muharram 1435H
Contributions received during the year

Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1435H
Contributions received during the year

Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H

Total

72,331

The accompanying notes from 1 to 20 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollar unless otherwise stated)

Notes

1436H

1435H

62,075

72,331

7
7

8,321
-

(11,358)
2,575

7
7
7

1,009
(271)
(3,665)

(107)
5
(2,269)

(2,347)
(4,450)
(473)
(555)
59,644

(35,556)
10,205
(9,194)
26,632

(26,447)
(137,923)
(404,125)
179,779
292,166
424
(6,816)
2,036
(46,690)
(147,596)

395,574
(63,803)
(655,211)
26,043
(38,662)
(20,442)
(356,501)

107,999

102,944

20,047
43,171

(226,925)
270,096

63,218

43,171

Cash flows from operations
Net income for the year
Adjustment for non-cash items:
Unrealized fair value losses/(gains) on investments in Sukuk
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Amortization of discount/(premium) on Sukuk investment
carried at amortized cost
(Gain)/loss from Sale/redemption of Sukuk
Accrued coupon income on Sukuk
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans
Accrued income and other assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Grant payments
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Commodity placements
Disbursement of investments in syndicated Murabaha
Addition to investments in Sukuk
Proceeds from redemption of investments in Sukuk
Proceeds from sale of investments in Sukuk
Receipts on investments in syndicated Ijarah
Disbursements for investments in equity capital
Proceeds on sale of other investments
Disbursement for other investments
Net cash utilized in investing activities

7
7
7
10
9
11
11

Cash flows from financing activity
Contributions received
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

4

The accompanying notes from 1 to 20 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year Ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollar unless otherwise stated)

1.

INCORPORATION, ACTIVITIES AND OTHER
The Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD) (the “Fund”) was established by the decision of the
31st Annual Meeting of the Islamic Development Bank’s (IDB) Board of Governors held in Kuwait in Rabi alThani 1427H (May 2006) and was launched as a Waqf during the 32nd Annual Meeting of the IDB Board of
Governors held in Dakar, Senegal, in Rabi al-Thani 1427H (May 2007).
The Fund’s targeted capital (Fund’s resources) is USD10 billion. The Fund has been established within the
IDB on the basis of voluntary contributions by all Member Countries, irrespective of their development
status.
The purpose of the Fund is to help to alleviate poverty, enhance development, eliminate illiteracy and
eradicate disease and epidemics in the Organization of Islamic Corporation (OIC) member states. ISFD
formally began its operations on 1 Muharram 1429H (10 January 2008).
The resources of ISFD available for utilization in its activities consist of:
1. income from the ISFD’s investments;
2. funds derived from operations or otherwise accruing to the Fund; and
3. other resources received by the Fund.
The Fund is required to carry out its activities in accordance with the principles of Shari’ah. The fundamental
principle underlying the Shari’ah approach to financial matters is that to earn a profit it is always necessary
to take a risk. In practice, Shari’ah means that all Islamic finance is asset based.
As a Fund of IDB, which is a multilateral development Bank, the Fund is not subject to any local or foreign
external regulatory authority.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”)
issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (“AAOIFI”) and the
Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Committee of the Bank. In accordance with
the requirements of AAOIFI, for matters for which no AAOIFI standard exists, the Fund follows the relevant
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). These matters, principally, include:
-

IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” to account for Murabaha based profit rate
and cross currency profit rate swaps; and
IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” to prepare and present cash flow statement.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following items:
-

Other investments are measured at fair value through net assets;
A portfolio of investments in Sukuk are measured at fair value through income statement designated as
such at time of initial recognition; and
Murabaha based profit rate and cross-currency profit rate swaps are measured at fair value through
income statement.
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Functional and presentation currency
ISFD conducts most of its operations and makes disbursements in United States Dollar (USD). Therefore,
the functional and presentation currency of ISFD is USD. Except as otherwise indicated, financial information
presented in USD has been rounded to the nearest thousands.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESS
a) Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position when the Fund assumes
related contractual rights or obligations.
Financial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another entity, a contractual right to receive
cash or another financial asset from another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with
another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity.
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to
another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that
are potentially unfavourable to the entity.
Below table summarises Fund’s major financial assets and liabilities and their measurement and recognition
principles. Detailed accounting policies are provided in the relevant sections below.

Item

Recognition principles

Cash equivalents

Cost

Commodity placements

Amortised cost less impairment

Syndicated Murabaha

Amortised cost less impairment

Investments in Sukuk certificates

Fair value through income statement; and Amortised cost less
impairment

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

Disbursement less impairment

Loans

Cost less impairment

Investments in equity capital

Fair value through net assets; or cost less impairment for un)quoted investments (if fair value cannot be determined reliably

Other investments

Fair value through net assets

b) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legal right to set off the recognised amounts and
the Fund intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, and placements with banks having a maturity of three
months or less at the date of placement.
d) Commodity placements
Commodity placements are made through banks and are utilized in the purchase and sale of commodities
at fixed profit. The buying and selling of commodities is limited by the terms of agreement between the Fund
and the other Islamic and conventional financial institutions. Commodity placements are initially recorded at
cost including acquisition charges associated with the placements and subsequently measured at amortized
cost less any provision for impairment.
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e) Investments in syndicated Murabaha
The Fund participates in syndicated Murabaha transactions originated by IDB’s affiliate International Islamic
Trade Finance Cooperation (ITFC).
The amounts receivable from Investments in syndicated Murabaha are stated at the selling price less
unearned income to the reporting date, less repayments received and any provision for impairment.
f) Investments in Sukuk
Investments in Sukuk are debt-type instruments classified as either measured at amortised cost or at fair
value through income statement.
Sukuk is measured at amortised cost only if it is managed on a contractual yield basis or it is not held for
trading and has not been designated at fair value through the income statement.
Sukuk classified and measured at fair value through income statement are initially recognized at fair value at
the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each
reporting period with the resulting gain or loss recognized in the income statement. Transaction costs are
expensed immediately on the date the contract is entered into.
g) Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Investment in syndicated Ijarah is measured at amounts disbursed less provision for any impairment.
h) Loans
Loan is recognized when cash is disbursed to the borrowers. Amounts receivable from loans represent
amounts disbursed in respect of projects plus the loan service fees due, less repayments received and less
provision for impairment.
i)

Investments in equity capital and other investment

Investments in equity capital and other investment are intended to be held for a long-term period, and may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in prices. Initially and subsequently such investments
are measured at fair value, and any unrealized gains arising from the change in their fair value are recognized
directly in the fair value reserve in the statement of changes in net assets until the investment is derecognized
or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in the statement
of changes in net assets is recognized in the income statement. Investments in equity capital or other
investments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less provision for any impairment
in the value of such investments.
j) Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate swaps
The Fund uses Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate swaps for asset/liability management and
hedging purposes to modify mark-up rate or currency characteristics of the Sukuk issued and financing
extended. Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate swaps are measured at fair value.
These instruments are initially recognized at fair value at the date the contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period with the resulting gain or
loss recognized in the income statement. Murabaha based cross currency or profit rate swaps with positive
fair values are recognized within other assets and those with negative fair values are recognized within other
liabilities.
k) Revenue recognition
Commodity placements through banks
Income from placements through banks is recognized on a time apportionment basis over the period from
the actual disbursement of funds to the date of maturity.
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Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Income from investments in syndicated Murabaha is accrued on a time apportionment basis over the period
from the date of the actual disbursement of funds to their scheduled repayment dates.
Investments in Sukuk
Income from investments in Sukuk is accrued on an effective profit rate method and is recognised in the
income statement and where the Sukuk is classified and measured at fair value, the fair value gains and
losses (realized and unrealized) resulting from the re-measurement of the fair values at the reporting date are
also recognised in the income statement.
Investments in equity capital and other investment
Dividend income from investments in equity capital and other investment are recognized when the right to
receive the payments is established.
Loan service fees
ISFD charges loan service fee only to cover its administrative costs related to the signature of an agreement
and disbursements made to the member countries. Thus, the loan service fee is calculated during the financial
periods starting from the signature date through to the date of the last disbursement.
The loan service fee is allocated and recognised in the income statement over the financial periods as
follows:
-

4% of the cumulative service fee is allocated/recognised during the financial periods between the
signature date and the 1st disbursement date;

-

40% of the cumulative service fee is allocated/recognised during the financial periods between the 1st
disbursement date and the last disbursement date; and

-

56% of the service fee is allocated/recognised during 5 years from the last disbursement date.

Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Income from investments in syndicated Ijarah is recognised on the effective yield method.
l)

Grant allocation

The Funds Board of Directors have the authority to allocate grants from ISFD’s normalized net income
(net income adjusted for unrealized gains/losses). These grant allocations are recorded as liabilities until
disbursed to the beneficiaries.
m) Impairment of financial assets
Loans
The Fund determines the provision for impairment losses on loans based on an assessment of incurred
losses. An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired. The impairment loss results from the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of the expected future cash
flows discounted at the implicit rate of return. The impairment provision is periodically adjusted based on a
review of the prevailing circumstances.
Impairment losses are adjusted through the use of an allowance account. When a financial asset is not
considered recoverable, it is charged against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged are credited to the income statement.
Other financial assets measured at:
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Fair value through net assets
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is objective
evidence that an investment may be impaired. In case of investments carried at fair value through net assets,
a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the investment below the cost is considered in determining
whether the assets are impaired. If any evidence exists of significant or prolonged impairment for the investment
carried at fair value through net assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on the investment in equity previously recognised in
the net assets, is removed from net assets and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses on
equity investments previously recognised in the income statement are not subsequently reversed through the
income statement.
Amortized cost or cost less impairment (other than loans)
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of impairment is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its expected recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in income statement.
n) Foreign currency transactions and translations
Foreign currency transactions that require settlement in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency of the Fund (USD) at the exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
measured at fair value are retranslated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the
fair value is determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences resulting from
the settlement of foreign currency transactions and arising on translation at period end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.
o) Zakat and tax
The Fund is considered a Bait-ul-Mal (public money), hence is not subject to Zakat or any Taxes.
Critical accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with AAOIFI requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and incomes
and expenses. It also requires Management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Fund’s
accounting policies. Such estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including obtaining professional advices and expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The most significant judgments
and estimates are summarised below:
Significant Judgments
Functional and presentation currency: Since most of the operations are conducted in USD and
disbursements are made in USD, ISFD’s functional and presentation currency is USD.
Subsequent events: The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the
reporting date and the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue, provided they give
evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date.
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Significant estimates
Provision for impairment of financial assets: The Fund exercises judgment in the estimation of provision for
impairment of financial assets. The methodology for the estimation of the provision is set out in the Significant
Accounting Policies section “Impairment of financial assets”.
Fair value of financial Instruments: The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active
markets is measured by using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are
used to measure fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent
of the department that created them. All valuation models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual
data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, valuation models use only observable data.
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment,
considering factors specific to the asset or liability.
New Financial Accounting Standard in issue but not yet effective
AAOIFI has issued a new accounting standard on investment accounts (FAS 27) Investment Accounts. The
new FAS 27 updates and replaces two of AAOIFI’s previous accounting standards relating to investment
accounts – (FAS 5) Disclosure of Bases for Profit Allocation between Owners’ Equity and Investment Account
Holders and FAS 6 Equity of Investment Account Holders and Their Equivalents. The Standard applies to
investment accounts based on Mudaraba contracts, which represent equity of investment accountholders,
and on Mudaraba contracts that are placed on short term basis for the purpose of liquidity management.
The Standard shall be effective for the financial periods beginning 1 January 2015. The management of ISFD
believes this Standard will not have any impact on its financial statements.

4.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Note
Cash at banks
Commodity placements

5

1436H

1435H

28,218

43,171

35,000

-

63,218

43,171

Commodity placements comprise those placements having a maturity of three months or less at the date of
placement. Bank accounts are in the name of IDB and are managed by IDB for the beneficial interest of the
Fund.

5.

COMMODITY PLACEMENT
Note
Commodity placements through banks(Note 19)
Accrued income
Less: Commodity placements with maturity of
three months or less at the date of placements
(Note 4)
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4

1436H

1435H

563,000

498,000

9,904

13,457

(35,000)

-

537,904

511,457
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6.

INVESTMENTS IN SYNDICATED MURABAHA
1436H
Gross amounts receivables

1435H

370,698

228,649

(5,566)

(1,441)

365,132

227,208

Less: unearned income

Investments in syndicated Murabaha for and on behalf of the Fund are made by The International Islamic
Trade Finance Corporation (“ITFC”), an affiliated entity, for which ITFC charges share of profit. The share of
profit for the year ended 30 Dhul Hijjah 1436H was USD 748 thousand (1435H: USD 1,118 thousand) which
has been netted off from the income from investments in syndicated Murabaha.

7.

INVESTMENTS IN SUKUK
Counterparty rating
1436H

AAA

AA

A+

A- or
lower

A

Unrated

Total

Sukuk classified as fair value
through income statement
- Governments
- Financial institutions
- Other entities

-

-

363,763

31,193

-

219,949

10,272

61,051

84,809

61,051

668,521

58,830

-

30,395

274,538

40,595

-

20,672

127,489

-

-

-

13,486

40,595

58,830

20,672

171,370

316,003

Sukuk classified at amortised cost
- Governments
- Financial institutions
- Other entities
Total

50,069

-

-

23,063

498,965

-

572,097

1,903

-

-

50,091

98,809

41,432

192,235

-

-

-

-

10,004

5,153

15,157

51,972

-

-

73,154

607,778

46,585

779,489

92,567

58,830

20,672

244,524

923,781

107,636

1,448,010

Unrated

Total

Counterparty rating
1435H

AAA

AA

A+

A

A- or
lower

Sukuk classified as fair value
through income statement
- Governments
- Financial institutions
- Other entities

-

57,888

-

31,698

298,701

-

388,287

159,108

-

20,799

130,453

31,593

49,362

391,315

-

-

10,335

-

13,738

62,197

86,270

159,108

57,888

31,134

162,151

344,032

111,559

865,872

-

-

-

-

282,208

-

282,208

272,399

-

30,054

-

-

60,598

363,051

-

-

10,093

-

-

-

10,093

Sukuk classified at amortised cost
- Governments
- Financial institutions
- Other entities
Total
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272,399

-

40,147

-

282,208

60,598

655,352

431,507

57,888

71,281

162,151

626,240

172,157

1,521,224
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The movement schedule of the investments in Sukuk is as follows:
1436H

1435H

1,521,224

880,902

404,125

655,211

Proceeds from redemption of investments in Sukuk

(179,779)

(26,048)

Proceeds from sale of investments in Sukuk

(291,895)

-

Amortisation of (discount)/premium on Sukuk carried at
amortized cost

(1,009)

107

Unrealized fair value (losses)/gains

(8,321)

11,358

-

(2,575)

3,665

2,269

1,448,010

1,521,224

1436H

1435H

Coupon income

51,726

35,895

Amortisation of (discount)/premium on Sukuk carried at
amortised cost

(1,009)

107

271

(5)

(8,321)

11,358

42,667

47,355

Note

1436H

1435H

13

17,578

8,625

8,528

8,821

Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate
swap

-

2,668

Other

-

1,543

26,106

21,657

Balance at 1 Muharram (Note 19)
Movements during the year
Additions

Unrealized exchange revaluation losses
Accrued coupon income on Sukuk carried at amortized
cost
Balance at 30 Dhul Hijjah
Income from sukuk investments is comprised of the following:

Gain/loss from sale of Sukuk
Unrealised fair value (losses)/gains

8.

ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS
Due from related parties
Accrued income

IDB for the beneficial interest of the Fund entered into the Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate
swap.
The Fund has invested in Malaysian Ringgit (MYR) Sukuk amounting to MYR 250 million issued by IDB on
30 July 2015. In order to provide protection against exchange rate fluctuations between the MYR and USD
and the profit receipts under the Sukuk investment, the ISFD entered into cross currency and profit rate
swaps for the contract amount of MYR 250 million to swap principal amount to USD 77.9 million. Under
the arrangement, the Fund shall swap profit rate in MYR with profit rates in USD with the counterparty. This
Sukuk was redeemed during 1436H.
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For Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate swaps, the counter parties act as an agent of the Fund
to buy and sell Shari’ah compliant assets for immediate delivery. Under these arrangements Murabaha
generates fixed payments (comprising both a cost price and a fixed rate profit mark-up) or vice versa.
Corresponding Reverse Murabaha contracts generate the floating leg payments (the cost price is fixed but
the profit rate mark-up is floating) or vice versa. This swap has been unwound during 1436H.
The table below shows the positive fair values of Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate swaps and
together with the cost price of Murabaha transaction on net basis.
Notional amount in
Original currency
(Malaysian Ringgit)

Murabaha based cross currency profit rate
swap

Net fair value, USD

USD
equivalent

Asset

Liability

1436H

-

-

-

-

1435H

250,000

76,297

2,668

-

The following realised and unrealised fair value gains and losses have been reported in 1436H and 1435H:
1436H fair value gains/(losses)
Unrealised Realised
Murabaha based cross currency profit rate
swap

9.

-

(2,499)

1435H fair value gains/(losses)

Total

Unrealised Realised

(2,499)

2,616

(888)

Total
1,728

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY CAPITAL
1436H
41,602
6,816
(2,940)
45,478

1435H
38,662
2,940
41,602

1436H
20,000
(424)
19,576

1435H
20,000
20,000

1436H

1435H

Balance at 1 Muharram (Note 19)

29,846

8,533

Additions

46,690

20,442

Sale

(2,036)

-

-

871

74,500

29,846

Balance at 1 Muharram (Note 19)
Additions
Net unrealised fair value (losses)/gains
Balance at end of Dhul Hijjah
The Fund has investments in unlisted equity securities.

10.

INVESTMENT IN SYNDICATED IJARAH
Balance at 1 Muharram
Redemption
Balance at end of Dhul Hijjah

11.

OTHER INVESTMENTS

Net unrealised fair value gains
Balance at end of Dhul Hijjah
Other investments represent investments in real estate funds.
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12.

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Note
Due to related parties

13

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

13.

1436H

1435H

105

1,080

624

122

729

1,202

RELATED PARTIES
The Fund is managed by IDB and its transactions are done through IDB and its affiliated entities. Principal
arrangements related to commodity placements, investments in syndicated Murabaha, investments in Sukuk,
loans, investments in equity capital, investment in syndicated Ijarah and other investments are between the
IDB and/or its related entities and counter parties. ISFD participates in such arrangements with IDB and its
related entities. The balances arising from such transactions are as follows:
(i) Due from related parties - entities related to IDB Group
1436H

1435H

IDB - Special Assistance Fund

8,625

8,625

IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources

8,953

-

17,578

8,625

1436H

1435H

-

975

105

105

105

1,080

(ii) Due to related parties - entities related to IDB Group

IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources
Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of Investment and
Export Credit (“ICIIEC”)

14.

GRANT ALLOCATION
The Board of Directors of ISFD having regard to Articles 1, 5.05, 9.03 and 9.04 of the regulations of ISFD,
having considered the Report & Recommendations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors of ISFD
contained in Document No. ISFD/BOD/434/(39)/5.2,approves the following Policy and Guidelines for Grant
Assistance to be provided by the ISFD.
The Board of Director’s of ISFD approved the following grants from ISFD’s normalized net income (net
income adjusted for unrealized gains/losses):
1436H

1435H

Allocation:
Dry land Somalia

(5,000)

-

Education of Syrian Refugee Children

(7,000)

-

Ebola Prevention and control Program

(10,000)

-

Obstetric Fistula health

(400)

-

Zakat & CDD

(250)

-

Capacity building for national statistics

(70)

-

Aquaculture Development

(50)

-

(22,770)

-

Total Grant allocation
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15.

MATURITY PROFILE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets and liabilities maturity periods
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
Years

Over 5
Years

Total

63,218

-

-

-

63,218

9,904

110,000

418,000

-

537,904

122,239

242,893

-

-

365,132

43,608

92,104

766,211

546,087

1,448,010

56

48

202

96,203

96,509

26,106

-

-

-

26,106

-

-

-

45,478

45,478

478

956

4,780

13,362

19,576

-

-

-

74,500

74,500

265,609

446,001

1,189,193

775,630

2,676,433

729

-

-

-

729

-

-

22,215

-

22,215

264,880

446,001

1,166,978

775,630

2,653,489

Cash and cash equivalents

43,171

-

-

-

43,171

Commodity placements

13,457

498,000

-

-

511,457

187,216

39,992

-

-

227,208

2,269

112,988

1,116,784

289,183

1,521,224

486

478

1,735

91,463

94,162

21,657

-

-

-

21,657

Investment in equity capital

-

-

41,602

-

41,602

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

-

-

20,000

-

20,000

Other investments

-

-

29,846

-

29,846

268,256

651,458

1,209,967

380,646

2,510,327

1,202

-

-

-

1,202

267,054

651,458

1,209,967

380,646

2,509,125

1436H
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Commodity placements
Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk
Loans
Accrued income and other assets
Investments in equity capital
Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Other Investments
Total assets
Liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Grants payable
Net assets
1435H
Assets

Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk
Loans
Accrued income and other assets

Total assets
Liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Net assets
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16.

CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS
The geographical locations of assets at end of Dhul Hijjah reflect the continents in which the beneficiaries of
the assets are located.
Member countries
Asia

Africa

Europe

Nonmember
countries

63,218

-

-

-

63,218

537,904

-

-

-

537,904

49,515

250,296

65,321

-

365,132

1,397,940

-

-

50,070

1,448,010

Loan

47,696

48,813

-

-

96,509

Accrued income and other
assets

26,106

-

-

-

26,106

Investments in equity capital

45,478

-

-

-

45,478

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

19,576

-

-

-

19,576

Other Investments

37,192

-

-

37,308

74,500

2,224,625

299,109

65,321

87,378

2,676,433

43,171

-

-

-

43,171

486,268

-

25,189

-

511,457

76,230

150,978

-

-

227,208

1,471,224

-

-

50,000

1,521,224

Loan

39,104

55,058

-

-

94,162

Accrued income and other
assets

21,657

-

-

-

21,657

Investment in equity capital

41,602

-

-

-

41,602

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

20,000

-

-

-

20,000

Other investments

29,846

-

-

-

29,846

2,229,102

206,036

25,189

50,000

2,510,327

Total

1436H
Cash and cash equivalents
Commodity placements
Investments in syndicated
Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk

Total assets
1435H
Cash and cash equivalents
Commodity placements
Investments in syndicated
Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk

Total assets
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17.

NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The net assets and liabilities of ISFD in foreign currencies at end of Dhul Hijjah are as follows:
1436H

1435H

Euro

12,327

12,296

Islamic Dinar (ID)

10,086

10,095

Saudi Riyal

42,532

42,998

6,216

570

1436H

1435H

266,384

245,070

Other Currencies

18.

UNDISBURSED COMMITMENTS

Loan

19.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Prior to 1436H, the ISFD reported its accrued incomes separately from the related assets. At 30th Dhul Hijja
1436H, the ISFD reported such accrued incomes together with the respective assets. The summary table
below shows the reclassifications of accrued incomes from other assets to respective asset categories as at
30th Dhul Hijja 1435H.
Prior to 1436H, the ISFD reported three investments under investments in equities and this has been
reclassified under other investments to reflect the correct nature of these investments. The summary table
below shows the reclassifications of these investments from equity investments to other investment category
as at 30th Dhul Hijja 1435H.
Before
reclassification

Reclassification

Reclassified

498,000

13,457

511,457

1,518,955

2,269

1,521,224

Accrued income and other assets

37,383

(15,726)

21,657

Investment in equity capital

54,952

(13,350)

41,602

Other investment

16,496

13,350

29,846

1435H
Financial Position
Commodity placements
Sukuk investments

20.

SHARI’AH COMMITTEE
The Fund’s business activities are subject to the supervision of the IDB’s Shari’ah Committee consisting of
members appointed by the Bank’s General Assembly. Shari’ah Committee for the Bank, its affiliates and
trust funds was established pursuant to the Board Resolution. Members of the Shari’ah Committee of the
Bank, its affiliates and trust funds are appointed for a period of 3 years renewable.
The Committee has the following functions:
-

to consider all products introduced by the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds for use for the first time and
rule on their conformity with the principles of the Shari’ah, and lay down basic principles for drafting of
related contracts and other documents;
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21.

-

to give its opinion on the Shari’ah alternatives to conventional products which the Bank, its affiliates and
trust funds intend to use, and to lay down basic principles for drafting of related contracts and other
documents and contribute to their development with a view to enhancing the Bank’s, its affiliates’ and
trust funds’ experience in this regard;

-

to respond to the Shari’ah related questions, enquiries and explications referred to it by the Board of
Executive Directors or the management of the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds;

-

to contribute to the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds programme for enhancing the awareness of its staff
members of Islamic banking and deepen their understanding of the fundamentals, principles, rules and
values relative to Islamic financial transactions; and

-

to submit to the Board of Executive Directors of the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds a comprehensive
report showing the measure of the Bank’s, its affiliates’ and trust funds’ commitment to principles of
Shari’ah in the light of the opinions and directions given and the transactions reviewed.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Fund is monitored by the IDB’s Group Risk Management Department (“GRMD”). The Bank has a Group
Risk Management Department (“GRMD”) that is independent from all business departments as well as other
entities of the Bank. The GRMD is responsible for identification, assessment, mitigating and reporting of all
risks inherent in the Fund’s activities to maintain its low risk profile. The Bank has also established a Group
Risk Management Committee, which ensures that, based on the risk appetite there, are appropriate controls
on all major risks arising from financing and investment operations through reviewing the risk management
framework, policies, procedures, guidelines and risk reports.
a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge its obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Fund’s credit risk arises mainly from its financial assets (other than
equity securities).
For all classes of financial assets held by the Fund, the maximum credit risk exposure to the Fund is their
carrying value as disclosed in the relevant notes. The assets which subject the Fund to credit risk principally
consist of cash and cash equivalent, commodity placements, investments in Sukuk, investments in syndicated
Murabaha and Loans which are mainly covered by sovereign guarantees and commercial bank guarantees
acceptable to the Fund, in accordance with specific eligibility criteria and credit risk assessments. IDB and
its related entities and managed funds benefit from preferred creditor status on sovereign financing, which
gives them priority over other creditors in the event of default thus constituting a strong protection against
credit losses.
The Bank has developed and put in place comprehensive credit policies and guidelines as a part of overall
credit risk management framework to provide clear guidance on various types of financing.
These policies are clearly communicated within the Bank with a view to maintain the overall credit risk appetite
and profile within the parameters set by the management of the Bank. The credit policy formulation, credit
limit setting, monitoring of credit exceptions / exposures and review / monitoring functions are performed
independently by the GRMD, which endeavors to ensure that business lines comply with risk parameters
and prudential limits established by the Board of Executive Directors and the management of the Bank.
An important element of the credit risk management framework is exposure limits structure for each obligor
and group of connected obligors. Moreover, portfolio concentration limits relating to single country and
single obligor are also in place with the view to maintain appropriate diversification. The assessment of any
exposure is based on the use of comprehensive internal rating systems for various potential counterparties
eligible to enter into business relationships with IDB and its managed funds. While extending financing to
its member countries, the Bank safeguards its and its managed funds’ interests by obtaining adequate
guarantees and ensures that the concerned beneficiaries as well as the guarantors are able to meet their
obligations to IDB and its managed funds. In addition to the above risk mitigation tools, the Bank has in place
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a comprehensive approach for risk assessment and assignment of exposure limits for each type of obligors
in line with the best banking practices.
b) Country risk
Country risk refers to the risks associated with the economic, social and political environments of the
beneficiary’s home country. Guidelines are in place for assessing and monitoring country risk profiles and
exposure to safeguard the Bank and its funds against undue risk. The country risk profiles and exposure limits
are periodically reviewed taking into consideration the macro-economic, financial and other developments
in the member countries, as well as the status of their business relationship with IDB and its managed
funds, perception of the rating agencies and institutions of repute, risk perception of market participants and
experience of other multilateral development banks (MDB’s). Countries are classified under 7 risk categories;
i.e., “A” to “G”, whereby “A” represents the highest creditworthy category (lowest risk) and “G” represents
the lowest creditworthy category (highest risk).
c) Market risks
The Fund is exposed to following market risks:
i) Currency risk
Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rates will affect the value of
the financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, in case the Fund does not hedge its
currency exposure by means of hedging instruments. Exposure to exchange risk is limited. Most of the Fund’s
financing operations are USD-denominated, the same currency in which the Fund’s resources – i.e. equity
are denominated. The Fund does not trade in currencies. Therefore, it is not exposed to currency trading
risk. The Fund has a conservative policy whereby the currency composition of the portfolio is monitored and
adjusted regularly.
ii) Price risk
The Fund is not exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments as the investments are held for
strategic purpose rather than trading purposes. In view of the composition of investment, equity price risk is
not significant.
iii) Mark-up risk
Mark-up risk arises from the possibility that changes in mark-up will affect the value of the financial
instruments. The Fund may be exposed to mark-up risk on its investments in Sukuk. However, the Fund
mitigates this risk by investing in fixed mark-up Sukuk.
d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. To mitigate this
risk, the Fund adopts a conservative approach by maintaining high liquidity levels invested in cash and cash
equivalents, investments in syndicated Murabaha and commodity placements with short-term maturity of
three to twelve months.
e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:
•

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

•

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

•

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).
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Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

-

1,448,010

-

1,448,010

-

60,571

-

60,571

-

1,508,581

-

1,508,581

- Investments in Sukuk

-

1,521,224

-

1,521,224

- Murabaha based cross currency
and profit rate swap

-

2,668

-

2,668

-

16,496

-

16,496

-

1,540,388

-

1,540,388

1436H
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
income statement:
- Investments in Sukuk
Financial assets at fair value through
net assets:
- Other Investments
1435H
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
income statement:

Financial assets at fair value through
net assets:
Other investments

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable
and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Fair value of investments in Sukuk, other investments and
Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate swaps are measured based on inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable.

22.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management has determined the chief operating decision maker to be the Board of Executive Directors
as this body is responsible for overall decisions about resource allocation to development initiatives within
its member countries. In order to ensure the availability of sufficient resources to enable it to meet its
developmental objectives, the Fund actively engages in treasury and liquidity management. Development
initiatives are undertaken through a number of Islamic finance products as disclosed on the face of the
Statement of Financial Position which are financed centrally through the Fund’s resources. Management has
not identified separate operating segments within the definition of FAS 22 “Segment Reporting” since the
Board of Executive Directors monitors the performance and financial position of the Fund as a whole, without
distinguishing between the developmental activities and the ancillary supporting liquidity management
activities or geographical distribution of its development programs. Further, the internal reports furnished
to the Board of Executive Directors do not present discrete financial information with respect to the Fund’s
performance to the extent envisaged in FAS 22.
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23.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Changing the Start and End of the Financial Year of the ISFD
The Board of Executive Directors (BED) of IDB, recommended to the Board of Governors of IDB for reporting
purposes only, to change the start and end of financial year using the Solar Hijri calendar, whilst maintaining
the Lunar Hijri as the official calendar of the Bank. The Board of Governors of IDB passed a resolution BG/4436 approving the recommendation of the BED.
This change to the start and end of the Bank’s financial year has necessitated the Fund to adopt the same
financial year in order to coordinate with the IDB Group Annual Meetings.
The above change will result in the next financial year being longer than the corresponding period (i.e. lunar
Hijri 1436H) thus making two periods incomparable as is presented below:

Reporting period

Period (from/to)

Next reporting period Lunar Hijri
equivalent

1 Muharram 1437 –
2 Rabi ul Awal 1438

Next reporting Solar Hijri year

22 Mizan 1394 – 11 Jadi 1395

Next reporting period Gregorian
equivalent

14 October 2015G –
31 December 2016G

Corresponding Lunar hijri year

1 Muharram 1436H – 30 Dhul
Hijja 1436H

Number of days

444 days

24.

353 days

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Executive
Directors on Jamad-al-awwal 1437H (14 February 2016).
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